Oláh, Szöllősi, Bíró

The Channel Physiology of the Skin

REVISION

The Channel Physiology of the Skin

Attila Oláh, Attila Gábor Szöllősi, and Tamás Bíró

DE-MTA "Lendület" Cellular Physiology Research Group, Department of Physiology,

University of Debrecen, Medical and Health Science Center, Research Center for

Molecular Medicine, Debrecen, Hungary

Correspondence to:

Tamás Bíró MD, PhD, DSc

DE-MTA "Lendület" Cellular Physiology Research Group, Department of Physiology

University of Debrecen, Medical and Health Science Center

Research Center for Molecular Medicine

Nagyerdei krt. 98.

H-4032 Debrecen, Hungary

email: biro.tamas@med.unideb.hu; biro.tamas@med.unideb.hu; <a href="mailto:biro.tamas@mailto:biro.ta

Table of contents

1	Abstract	5
2	The skin and its key functions	6
2.1	The functional anatomy of the skin	6
2.2	Key functions of the skin	6
2.2.1	Barrier functions	7
2.2.1.1	The physical-chemical barrier	7
2.2.1.2	The (micro)biological barrier	9
2.2.1.3	The immunological barrier	10
2.2.1.4	The barrier regeneration	11
2.2.1.5	Related cutaneous diseases	12
2.2.2	Neuroendocrine functions	12
2.2.3	Other functions	14
3	A short introduction of ion and non-ion selective channels	16
3.1	Ion channels	16
3.1.1	Voltage-gated ion channels	16
3.1.2	Ligand-gated ion channels	17
3.1.3	Transient receptor potential ion channels	18
3.1.4	Other ion channels	19
3.2	Non-ion selective channels	19
3.2.1	Aquaporins	19
3.2.2	Connexins	19
3.2.3	Pannexins	20
4	Deles of abapted in alvin the side and in partoin dermotoped	04
4	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses	21
4 4.1	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and	21
4 4.1 barrier r	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery	21 21 21
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4 1 1 1	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels	21 21 21 21
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels	21 21 21 21 21
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.1.2 4 1 2	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels	21 21 21 21 22 23
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels	21 21 21 22 23 23
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.1	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels	 21 21 21 21 22 23 23 24
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs Ionotropic glutamate receptors P2X receptors	 21 21 21 21 22 23 24 25
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs lonotropic glutamate receptors P2X receptors	 21 21 21 21 22 23 23 24 25 26
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs Ionotropic glutamate receptors P2X receptors 5-HT3 receptors GABA ₄ receptors	 21 21 21 21 22 23 23 24 25 26 26
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs Ionotropic glutamate receptors 5-HT3 receptors GABA _A receptors Glycine receptors	 21 21 21 21 22 23 23 24 25 26 26 26
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs lonotropic glutamate receptors P2X receptors 5-HT3 receptors GABA _A receptors Glycine receptors TRP channels	 21 21 21 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 27
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3 4.1.3.1	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs lonotropic glutamate receptors P2X receptors 5-HT3 receptors GABA _A receptors Glycine receptors TRP channels TRP v1	 21 21 21 21 22 23 23 24 25 26 26 26 26 26 27 27
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3 4.1.3.1 4.1.3.1	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs lonotropic glutamate receptors P2X receptors 5-HT3 receptors GABA _A receptors GABA _A receptors TRP channels TRP v1 TRPV1 TRPV3 and TRPV4	 21 21 21 21 22 23 23 24 25 26 26 27 28
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3 4.1.3.1 4.1.3.2 4.1.3.3	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs Ionotropic glutamate receptors P2X receptors 5-HT3 receptors GABA _A receptors Glycine receptors TRP channels TRPV1 TRPV3 and TRPV4 TRPV6	 21 21 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 27 28 29
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3 4.1.3.1 4.1.3.2 4.1.3.3 4.1.3.4	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery	 21 21 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 27 28 29 30
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3 4.1.3.1 4.1.3.2 4.1.3.3 4.1.3.4 4.1.3.5	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery	 21 21 21 22 23 23 24 25 26 26 27 28 29 30
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3 4.1.3.1 4.1.3.2 4.1.3.3 4.1.3.4 4.1.3.5 4.1.3.6	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery	21 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 27 27 28 29 30 30 31
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3 4.1.3.1 4.1.3.2 4.1.3.3 4.1.3.4 4.1.3.5 4.1.3.6 4.1.4	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery	21 21 22 23 23 24 25 26 26 27 27 28 29 30 31 32
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3 4.1.3.1 4.1.3.2 4.1.3.3 4.1.3.4 4.1.3.5 4.1.3.6 4.1.4 4.1.4.1	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs lonotropic glutamate receptors P2X receptors 5-HT3 receptors GABA _A receptors Glycine receptors TRP channels TRPV1 TRPV3 and TRPV4 TRPV6 TRPV6 TRPC channels TRPA1 TRPM channels Non-ion selective channels Aquaporins	21 21 22 23 23 24 25 26 27 27 28 29 30 31 32 32
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.1 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3 4.1.3.1 4.1.3.2 4.1.3.3 4.1.3.4 4.1.3.5 4.1.3.6 4.1.4 4.1.4.1 4.1.4.1	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs lonotropic glutamate receptors. P2X receptors 5-HT3 receptors GABA _A receptors Glycine receptors. TRP channels TRPV1 TRPV1 TRPV3 and TRPV4 TRPV6 TRPC channels TRPA1 TRPA1 TRPM channels Non-ion selective channels Aquaporins Connexins	21 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 27 27 28 29 30 31 32 32 33
4 4.1 barrier r 4.1.1 4.1.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.2 4.1.2.2 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.3 4.1.2.4 4.1.2.5 4.1.2.6 4.1.3 4.1.3.1 4.1.3.2 4.1.3.3 4.1.3.4 4.1.3.5 4.1.3.6 4.1.4 4.1.4.1 4.1.4.1 4.1.4.2 4.1.4.3	Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and ecovery Voltage-gated channels Voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ -channels Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels Ligand-gated channels nAChRs Ionotropic glutamate receptors. P2X receptors 5-HT3 receptors GABA _A receptors Glycine receptors TRP channels TRPV1 TRPV1 TRPV3 and TRPV4 TRPV6 TRPC channels TRPA1 TRPM channels Non-ion selective channels Aquaporins Connexins Pannexins	21 21 22 23 24 25 26 26 27 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 33

4.1.5	The complex "channel" regulation of the epidermal barrier – Controversies	,		
explanations, theories				
4.2	Roles of channels in wound healing	36		
4.2.1	Voltage-gated channels	36		
4.2.1.1	Voltage-gated and Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ -channels	36		
4.2.2	Ligand-gated channels	36		
4.2.2.1	nAChRs	36		
4.2.2.2	GABA _A receptors	37		
4.2.3	TRP channels	37		
4.2.3.1	TRPV1	38		
4.2.3.2	TRPV3	38		
4.2.4	Non-ion selective channels	39		
4.2.4.1	Aquaporins	39		
4.2.4.2	Connexins	39		
4.3	Roles of channels in cutaneous immune functions and in the "formation" of			
the imm	unological barrier	39		
4.3.1	Voltage-gated channels	39		
4.3.2	Ligand-gated channels	40		
4.3.2.1	nAChRs	40		
4.3.2.2	P2X receptors	40		
4.3.2.3	GABA _A receptors	42		
433	TRP channels	42		
4.3.3.1	TRPV1	43		
4332	TRPV3	44		
4333	TRPA1	44		
434	Non-ion selective channels	45		
4.0.4 4 3 4 1		45		
ч.0. ч .т Л Л	"Sensory roles" of enidermal keratinocytes	45 15		
 Л Л 1	Voltage-gated ion channels	45 15		
 Л Л 1 1	Voltage-gated Na ⁺ -channels	45 15		
4.4.1.1	Two-pore K^+ channels ($K_{}$)	40		
4.4.1.2	TPD chappels	40		
4.4.2		40		
4.4.2.1	Other ion channels	40		
4.4.3	Amileride equative Ne ⁺ shannels	40		
4.4.3.1	Annionde-sensitive Na Channels	40		
4.5		47		
4.5.1	Voltage-gated channels	47		
4.5.1.1		47		
4.5.2	Ligand-gated channels	47		
4.5.2.1	nACnRs	47		
4.5.3	Non-ion selective channels	48		
4.5.3.1	Aquaporins	48		
4.6	Skin diseases	48		
4.6.1	AD	49		
4.6.1.1	Ligand-gated channels	49		
4.6.1.2	TRP channels	49		
4.6.1.3	Non-ion selective channels	49		
4.6.2	Psoriasis vulgaris	50		
4.6.2.1	Voltage-gated channels	50		
4.6.2.2	Ligand-gated channels	50		
4.6.2.3	TRP channels	51		

4.6.2.4	Non-ion selective channels	51
4.6.3	Non-melanoma skin cancers	51
4.6.3.1	Voltage-gated channels	51
4.6.3.2	Ligand-gated channels	52
4.6.3.3	TRP channels	53
4.6.3.4	Non-ion selective channels	53
4.6.4	Malignant melanoma	53
4.6.4.1	Voltage-gated channels	53
4.6.4.2	Ligand-gated channels	54
4.6.4.3	TRP channels	55
4.6.4.4	Non-ion selective channels	55
4.6.5	Other skin diseases	56
4.6.5.1	Olmsted syndrome	56
4.6.5.2	Smith–Lemli–Opitz syndrome	56
4.6.5.3	Pemphigus vulgaris	57
4.6.5.4	Mal de Meleda	57
4.6.5.5	Darier's disease	57
4.6.5.6	Prurigo nodularis	58
4.6.5.7	Diseases of the adnexal structures	58
4.6.5.8	Chronic venous insufficiency	59
4.6.5.9	"Connexin diseases"	60
4.6.6	Skin ageing	60
5	Concluding romarks	62
5	Concluding remarks	02
6	Acknowledgement	63
	Ŭ	
7	Figures and legends	64
8	Tables	65
9	References	68
10	List of abbreviations	93

1 Abstract

During embryonic development, the skin, the largest organ of the human body, and nervous system are both derived from the neuroectoderm. Consequently, several key factors and mechanisms that influence and control central or peripheral nervous system activities are also present and hence involved in various regulatory mechanisms of the skin. Apparently, this is the case for the ion and non-ion selective channels as well. Therefore, in this review, we shall focus on delineating the regulatory roles of the channels in skin physiology and pathophysiology. First, we introduce key cutaneous functions and major characteristics of the channels in question. Then, we systematically detail the involvement of a multitude of channels in such skin processes (e.g. skin barrier formation, maintenance, and repair, immune mechanisms, exocrine secretion) which are mostly defined by cutaneous nonneuronal cell populations. Finally, we close by summarizing data suggesting that selected channels are also involved in skin diseases such as e.g. atopic dermatitis, non-melanoma cancers and malignant melanoma, psoriasis. genetic and autoimmune diseases, etc., as well as in skin ageing.

2 The skin and its key functions

The skin is the largest barrier of the human body which protects the internal organs from various effects of the external environment, such as temperature changes, mechanic impacts, UV radiation and harmful pathogens. However, the skin is also our largest neuro-immuno-endocrine organ as it actively participates in the regulation of the body's water content, body temperature and possesses a multitude of sensory, endocrine, and immune functions. Below, we introduce key aspects of cutaneous physiology (for details see Bukowsky 2010; Draelos and Pugliese 2011).

2.1 The functional anatomy of the skin

The skin is the largest organ of the integumentary system (the organ system that protects the body from damage) and is composed of multiple layers and cell types.

Epidermis: The outermost layer of the skin is made of keratinocytes (providing the waterproofing and serving as key components of the "active" skin barrier); Merkel cells operating as mechanoreceptors; melanocytes which define skin color by the complex melanogenesis; and Langerhans cells which are professional antigen-presenting cells of the skin immune system. In addition, afferent nerve endings for the sensation of touch, pressure, temperature as well as pain and itch also reach the epidermis.

Dermis: The middle layer of the skin is a dense connective tissue composed of extracellular matrix components (collagens and elastic and reticular fibers) produced mainly by dermal fibroblasts. It is supplied by blood and lymphatic vessels and is densely innervated by both sensory afferent as well as motor efferent (which participate e.g. in vasoregulation) nerve fibers establishing a complex neuronal network. Of further importance, the pilosebaceous unit (hair follicles and sebaceous glands) and other appendages (sweat glands) are also located in this compartment.

Hypodermis (or subcutis): The lowermost layer of the skin is formed by adipocytes, fibroblasts, and macrophages. Similar to the dermis, it is also supplied by blood vessels and nerves.

2.2 Key functions of the skin

The various cell types of the skin layers form complex, multicellular communication networks, the proper function of which establishes the physiological skin homeostasis. These homeostatic mechanisms can be classified to 3 groups, i.e. barrier functions, neuroendocrine functions, and other functions (**Figure 1**).

2.2.1 Barrier functions

Possibly the most important function of the skin is the formation of the barrier (extensively reviewed in Elias and Feingold 2006). For a long time, it was believed that it is a "passive" function that originates from the unique structural features and the special anatomical properties of the skin. However, in the last few decades, it became increasingly accepted that the different types of cutaneous cells possess very important functions in generating a coordinated, "active" protection, thus forming a true first line of defense against the harmful impacts of the external environment such as e.g. physical environmental challenges (UV, temperature), microbial invasions, allergens, chemical irritants, etc.

The barrier exhibits a complex nature; hence, we can distinguish among different levels of protection (**Figure 2**). Yet, the different levels constantly communicate and coordinate their actions to be able to act according to the following "needs":

- "Keep the barrier intact"
- "Moisturize: attract and keep the water"
- "Should the barrier be destroyed, regenerate and repair it"
- "Let the valuable things penetrating the skin, both upward and downward"
- "Do not let the bad things invading the skin and the body"
- "Should the bad things penetrated, fight and destroy them"

2.2.1.1 The physical-chemical barrier

The key components of the outermost physical/mechanical barrier are the keratinocytes of the epidermis. During the course of their life-long, apoptosis-driven, physiological differentiation program, as they move "upward" from the deepest basal layer through the spinous (str. spinosum) and granular (str. granulosum) layers, their permeability to Ca^{2+} increases and the resulted elevation of intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) activates peptidases and convert pro-filaggrin into filaggrin. Filaggrin then aggregates various cytokeratins and other intermediate filaments in the

superficial cells which, after they have become anucleated (corneocytes), generate the solid mechanical/physical shield, i.e. the str. corneum, which is considered as the "real physical barrier" (Madison 2003; Proksch et al 2008; Jensen and Proksch 2009; Rawlings 2010).

In the str. corneum, each terminally differentiated corneocyte is surrounded by a protein shell called the cornified envelope. This highly insoluble structure – which is a product of (again) Ca²⁺-dependent processes involving e.g. keratinocyte-specific transglutaminases – is composed of mainly loricrin and involucrin which form extensive links between each other and other filamentous structures of the cells (such as the above filaggrin and cytokeratins). In addition, a further stabilization of the corneocyte barrier is provided by corneodesmosomes, gap junctions, and other intercellular junctions formed by junctional proteins such as e.g. desmogleins, cadherins, envoplakin, etc. Importantly, the produced filaggrin (and possibly other proteins) will eventually be degraded in the corneocytes. The resulted amino acids will then be used to synthesize natural moisturizing factors (NMFs) which, due to their hygroscopic (water-holding) features, provide the proper hydration of the epidermis and hence, as a "mechanical shaping factor", establish another key component of the physical barrier (Madison 2003; Proksch et al 2008; Jensen and Proksch 2009; Rawlings 2010).

As a "morphological metaphor", corneocytes can therefore be imaged as "bricks in the wall" to form the physical/mechanical barrier. It is common knowledge, however, that "bricks cannot be stabilized without a proper mortar"; in the skin, the mortar is formed by lipids of the epidermis. Indeed, in the lower spinous and granular layers, lipid-containing lamellar bodies are formed in the keratinocytes. During the maturation of keratinocytes towards the str. corneum, various (again, Ca²⁺-dependent) enzymes degrade the outer envelope of the lamellar bodies thereby releasing (via exocytosis) their content to the interstitial space at the border of the str. granulosum and corneum. This process results in the establishment of the physical/chemical "mortar", i.e. the continuous intercellular lipid layers of the epidermis. It should also be noted that involucrin and other cell-cell junction proteins of the corneocyte bound lipid envelope which binds both to the

cornified (protein) envelope and also to the intercellular lipid lamellae. Therefore, the constantly produced lipids (i.e. cholesterol, ceramides, and free fatty acids) – which are further supplemented by the high lipid content of the sebum, produced and released (to the skin surface) by the sebaceous glands – not only stabilize the "bricks", but also provide additional waterproofing and physical protection to the skin (Elias and Feingold 2006; Proksch et al 2008; Rawlings 2010).

Of great importance, the epidermal lipids also contribute to other "chemical" cutaneous homeostatic mechanisms such as e.g. setting the acidic pH. Furthermore, epidermal keratinocytes and sebocytes actively secrete additional factors exhibiting antimicrobial properties. These include 1) antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) such as e.g. the small cationic molecules defensins (which insert to bacterial walls and hence form "lethal" pores), LL-37 cathelicidin, cathepsins, etc.; and 2) antimicrobial lipids (AML) such as saturated (e.g., lauric acid, $C_{12:0}$) and unsaturated (e.g., monounsaturated MUFA sapienic acid, $C_{16:1\Delta6}$) fatty acids (Gallo and Huttner 1998; Bardan et al 2004; Braff and Gallo 2006; Niyonsaba et al 2009). The AMPs and AMLs not only strengthen the chemical defense of the skin but, as members of the innate immunity, contribute to the complex inflammatory/immune processes organized by the skin immune system (see also below)

2.2.1.2 The (micro)biological barrier

Similar to other barriers seen in various body parts, the skin also has a rich resident, commensal bacterial flora including e.g. Propionibacterium acnes and Staphylococcus epidermidis (Gallo and Nakatsuji 2011; Kranich et al 2011; Littman and Pamer 2011). Traditionally, it was suggested, that these microbes have a relatively passive function; they populate their niches and "use up" the available food sources hence making it more difficult (if not impossible) for the infection and colonization of pathogenic microbes (this process is referred to as competitive exclusion) (Rioux and Fedorak 2006). However, the "commensal" relationship (i.e. beneficial for the bacteria yet mostly neutral for the skin) has recently been revisited and a rather "symbiotic" (i.e. mutually beneficial) association has been suggested. Indeed, it was recently shown that bacteria of the normal skin flora (including e.g. Propionibacterium acnes) secrete factors (e.g. propionicins, jenseniin G, acneicin, lactic acid) that possess bacteriostatic or even antibacterial properties against certain pathogenic strains (e.g. some Gram-negative bacteria, yeasts and molds) (Faye et al 2000; Miescher et al 2000; Cogen et al 2008). In addition, the skin commensal flora also seems to exert a continuous and dynamic action on the skin immune system; indeed, resident bacteria were shown to modulate AMP production of keratinocytes as well as cytokine production of other cutaneous immunocompetent cells (see also below) (Gallo and Nakatsuji 2011). Finally, it should also be noted that the constant physiological desquamation of the "dead" corneocytes not only strengthens the physical and biological barriers but also makes it difficult for the pathogenic microorganisms to establish permanent colonies.

2.2.1.3 The immunological barrier

Various immunocompetent cells and humoral factors establish the skin immune system (reviewed in Bos and Kapsenberg 1993; Kupper and Fuhlbrigge 2004). As immune cells, resident and infiltrating phagocytic cells, natural killer cells, mast cells, professional antigen-presenting cells (i.e. epidermal Langerhans cell, dermal dendritic cell) as well as T and B lymphocytes are localized in various skin compartments. In addition, a plethora of cytokines, chemokines, and other inflammatory mediators, as well as the aforementioned AMPs and AMLs, are synthesized in and hence released from practically all cell types of the skin. Therefore, upon infections, allergen exposure or barrier rupture, these innate and adaptive immunity components are co-activated to induce an orchestrated inflammatory and immune response (reviewed in Girardi 2007; Nestle et al 2009; Takeuchi and Akira 2010).

Of further importance, keratinocytes and sebaceous gland-derived sebocytes – which, as shown above, play key roles in the establishment of the physical-chemical barrier – were introduced as additional sentinels of the skin immune system. This immune role is attributed not only to their production of AMPs and AMLs and the antimicrobial sebum (see above), but also to their capability to recognize external pathogens via the functional expression of all sorts of pathogen recognition receptors, including various members of Toll-like receptor family (TLRs), i.e. TLR1-6 and 9 (Pivarcsi et al 2003; Miller 2008; Terhorst et al 2010). Activation of these receptors by various pathogenic microbes, via the release of numerous pro-inflammatory agents, leads to the initiation of active defense mechanisms, and as a

result, adaptive and innate immune events are launched (Pivarcsi et al 2004; Kurokawa et al 2009).

2.2.1.4 The barrier regeneration

As was shown above, the proper formation, maintenance, and function of the physical-chemical epidermal barrier depends on the constant proliferation– differentiation turnover of epidermal keratinocytes (and, via sebum production, of sebocytes). Upon disruption of the epidermal barrier – which, experimentally, can be performed by e.g. chemical agents (acetone, detergents), UV exposure, or mechanical tape stripping, which removes the corneocytes (Pinkus 1951) – the aforementioned processes are accelerated due to the active contribution of engaged keratinocytes and sebocytes in response to various agents released from the damaged cells (Proksch et al 2008; Rawlings 2010).

However, skin injuries very often reach the deeper skin layers resulting in a much more complex response which can be exemplified by the wound healing processes (Epstein 1999). Indeed, during the multiple phases of wound healing (e.g. coagulation, inflammation, proliferation, remodeling) numerous cutaneous cell types (including infiltrating macrophages and polymorphonuclear neutrophils, microvascular endothelial cells, dermal fibroblasts, epidermal keratinocytes) are activated and their cell-specific proliferation-migration-differentiation programs are initiated (Enoch and Leaper 2005; Reinke and Sorg 2012). Of further importance, wound healing is not possible without the active contribution of intracutaneous stem cells located in various cutaneous compartments including e.g. the epidermis, sebaceous and sweat glands, and, possibly most importantly, in the hair follicles (Tiede et al 2007; Lau et al 2009). It should also be noted that cellular regeneration programs and stem cell activities are orchestrated by a multitude of locally generated (by the above cell types), soluble mediators (e.g. growth and trophic factors, cytokines, chemokines, neuropeptides, neurotrophins, hormones) and concomitant changes in the expressions of cell surface molecules (e.g. receptors, adhesion molecules, integrins) recognizing these agents (Werner and Grose 2003; Gurtner et al 2008; Koh and DiPietro 2011).

Therefore, the delicate balance of cell/organ proliferation, survival, death, differentiation, and mediator production of practically all non-neuronal cell populations of the skin collectively establish the "life-long" regeneration and rejuvenation of the tissue and hence enables the skin barrier homeostasis (Gurtner et al 2008; Reinke and Sorg 2012).

2.2.1.5 Related cutaneous diseases

In light of the central role of barrier functions in skin biology, it is not surprising at all that impairment of the aforementioned balance results in pathological barrier formation and maintenance which eventually lead to the development of skin diseases. These conditions include e.g. irritant and allergic contact dermatitis, burns, ulcers, etc. On the other hand, several skin immune abnormalities may secondarily impair the epidermal skin barrier such as seen e.g. in Mycosis fungoides and in the autoimmune pemphigus vulgaris. However, the consequences of the very often coexisting impaired skin barrier and cutaneous inflammatory/immune responses may establish positive feed-back loops. These autocatalytic mechanisms, in turn, result in the development of such high-prevalence, chronic inflammatory "barrier diseases" as the atopic dermatitis (AD) and psoriasis (reviewed in Proksch et al 2008; Boguniewicz and Leung 2011).

Finally, skin tumors should also be mentioned. As in many organs, defective differentiation and/or uncontrolled proliferation of cutaneous cells may lead to the development of tumors. In the skin, non-melanoma skin cancers, i.e. basal cell carcinoma (BCC) and squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), and malignant melanomas establish the major groups of tumors with increasingly growing incidence (Samarasinghe and Madan 2012; Tremante et al 2012). It is also noteworthy that stem cells which otherwise play key roles in wound healing are also implicated in skin tumor formation. Since wound repair and tumorigenesis both depend on intracutaneous communication networks of skin cells, the proper control of the interand intracellular signaling pathways are of key importance in successfully preventing tumor formation (Arwert et al 2012).

2.2.2 Neuroendocrine functions

Since this review will mainly focus on the roles of ion and non-ion selective channels expressed by non-neuronal cells, below, we only briefly summarize the neuroendocrine and other functions of the skin.

Sensory functions: Besides establishing the complex cutaneous barrier against constant environmental challenges, the skin simultaneously operates as the largest sensory organ of the vertebrate body (reviewed in Roosterman et al 2006; Slominski et al 2008). Indeed, all skin compartments are densely innervated by sensory afferent fibers specialized for the sensation and then neuronal processing of mechanical signals (touch, pressure, vibration), osmotic and thermal (heat, cold) challenges, chemical agents as well as noxious and pruritogenic stimuli inducing pain and itch, respectively (reviewed in Ansel et al 1997; Paus et al 2006a; Roosterman et al 2006; Fuchs and Horsley 2008). However, the activation of these sensory neurons not only induce the classical, ortho-dromic transmission of the signals (i.e. generation and propagation of action potentials) to the central nervous system, but may also result in the anti-dromic release of certain neuropeptides (such as substance P [SP] and calcitonin gene-related peptide [CGRP]) (Ansel et al 1997; Luger 2002). As the "efferent" functions of the sensory afferents, these neuropeptides may act on local cutaneous non-neuronal cell types and exert immuno-endocrine. vasoregulatory, and trophic actions. In addition, sensory stimuli as well as the released neuropeptides may induce the liberation of a plethora of mediators from non-neuronal cells which, vice versa, may act on the sensory nerve endings. Of further importance, the local, intracutaneous accumulation of these mediators may also act on other non-neuronal cell types of the skin and hence may alter their proliferation-differentiation status (Ansel et al 1997; Luger 2002; Paus et al 2006a and b; Peters et al 2007; Fuchs and Horsley 2008). Therefore, the established multidirectional, multi-cellular communication networks not only participate in the aforementioned formation and maintenance of the complex physical and immunological cutaneous barriers but also significantly modulate skin sensation processes ("sensory roles" of the non-neuronal cells) (Bíró et al 2007; Denda et al 2007a; Denda and Tsutsumi 2011; Fernandes et al 2012).

Motor functions: The skin is also supplied by "truly" efferent fibers which belong to the somatomotor group. These sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves control e.g.

cutaneous vasoregulation (dilation or constriction of blood vessels), piloerection, skin metabolic activities, exocrine functions, etc. (see also below) (Hodges and Johnson 2009).

Endocrine functions: The skin is also our largest endocrine organ (Roosterman et al 2006; Slominski et al 2008). Indeed, the skin not only responds to the actions of circulating hormones but various cutaneous cells and tissues themselves produce a wide-array of hormones. Intriguingly, two peripheral equivalents of central hypothalamic – pituitary – target organ axes, i.e. Corticotropin Releasing Hormone (CRH) - Corticotropin (ACTH) - Cortisol; Thyrotropin Releasing Hornone (TRH) -Thyrotropin (TSH) – Thyroxine), are functionally expressed in the skin (Arck et al 2006; Slominski et al 2008; Bodó et al 2010; Poeggeler et al 2010; Ramot et al 2011; Knuever et al 2012). These, mostly locally released and acting hormones, on the one hand, provide additional humoral components to the multi-cellular networks regulating multiple skin functions. On the other hand, these hormones also act as active members of the intracutaneous "stress response system" which, via systemic neuro-endocrine mechanisms, keeps continuous contact with its central counterpart, thereby establishing the "brain-skin connection" (Arck et al 2006; Paus et al 2006b). In addition to the above hormones, certain skin cells express the full enzymatic machinery to synthesize e.g. vitamin D, testosterone, and estrogens which mostly control local events of growth, differentiation, and metabolism of non-neuronal skin cells (Schmuth et al 2007; Zouboulis et al 2007; Slominski et al 2008; Tóth et al 2011a).

2.2.3 Other functions

Transport functions: The proper barrier enables the up- and downward transport of respiratory gases, nutrients as well as topically applied products (pharmaceuticals, cosmeceuticals) between skin layers (Lademann et al 2011).

Thermoregulatory functions: The skin plays multiple roles in thermoregulation. With the subcuticular adipose tissue (which is cca. 50% of body fat), the skin is the major thermal insulator of the body. In animals, insulation is further supported by neuronal piloerection. In addition, the aforementioned neuronal and humoral vasoregulatory mechanisms (vasodilation, vasoconstriction) regulate the large cutaneous blood

supply and thereby precisely control direct heat losing mechanisms (i.e. radiation, convection and conduction). Finally, evaporation (both insensible via skin pores and sensible via sweating) and its control by neuronal and humoral actions are also related to the skin (Johnson 2010; Nakamura 2011; Pitoni et al 2011).

Exocrine functions: Skin appendages produce and release (to the skin surface) of sweat and sebum which exocrine products, as mentioned above, participate e.g. in thermoregulation, physical-chemical barrier formation, antimicrobial activity, etc.

3 A short introduction of ion and non-ion selective channels

The channels are pore proteins found in various (surface, intracellular) membranes of the cells. They are specialized for the passive transport of certain molecules between the cellular compartments separated by the membranes in which they are located.

Below we summarize the major channel groups and shortly introduce their key characteristics, with special emphasis on those which have regulatory roles in skin physiology. For the functional classification of channel proteins, we used the International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology (IUPHAR) database. For details and references, please visit the IUPHAR website (<u>http://www.iuphar-db.org</u>) and corresponding textbooks of Physiology and Pharmacology.

3.1 lon channels

Via these membrane pores, certain ions are transported (selectively or nonselectively) along their electrochemical gradients. The classification of the ion channels is mainly based on their gating characteristics (i.e. the energy form of the stimulus that opens or, rarely, closes the given channel) and other properties. Yet, it should be emphasized that certain channels exhibit "mixed" gating features; e.g. we will mention such channels whose opening could be equally regulated by binding of the respective ligands, certain voltages, and other factors.

3.1.1 Voltage-gated ion channels

Like most of the ion channels, voltage-gated pores – whose gating properties are mainly regulated by alterations in the membrane potentials – were originally described on excitable cells (i.e. various neurons and muscle types) as key molecules involved in the generation of action potentials. However, it also became apparent that, besides this electrogenic role, they additionally participate in a multitude of other cellular functions not only on excitable but also on non-excitable cells. These mechanisms (as will be detailed below) involve, among others, secretion of various mediators, regulation of intracellular ionic homeostasis, cellular growth and differentiation, immune response, etc. With respect to the skin, voltage-gated Na⁺ channels (Catterall et al 2012a), Ca²⁺ channels (Catterall et al 2012b), K⁺ channels (Gutman et al 2012a) as well as Ca²⁺ activated K⁺ channels (Gutman et al 2012b),

two-pore domain K⁺ channels (Plant et al 2012), and cyclic nucleotide-gated (CNG) non-selective cationic channels (Biel et al 2012) are of greatest importance.

3.1.2 Ligand-gated ion channels

The common feature of these channels is that they are gated by binding of (more or less) specific and/or selective ligands to the respective binding sites. Actually, they function as ionotropic receptors for neurotransmitters, neuromodulators, hormones, and other mediators participating in autocrine, paracrine and endocrine intercellular communication mechanisms. Similar to other ion channels, these receptors were first described on neurons and only lately on non-neuronal cells of the body. These channels "signal" mostly via modulating the intracellular ionic homeostasis of their host cells which, in turn, initiates various downstream signal transduction pathways including alterations of activities of e.g. kinase systems, enzymes and factors involved in the regulation of gene expression, cellular metabolic enzymes, etc.

Within this group, below, we review the cutaneous impact of the following ligandgated channels:

lonotropic cholinergic receptors: Nicotinic (nAChR) and muscarinic (mAChR) cholinergic receptors are specialized for mediating the cellular actions of acetylcholine (ACh), a key neurotransmitter and mediator. Among them nAChRs function as ligand-gated channels whereas mAChRs are seven-transmembrane (7-TM) G-protein-coupled receptors. Human nAChRs are composed of different subunits, i.e. $\alpha 1-\alpha 10$, $\beta 1-\beta 4$, γ , δ , and ϵ which can be combined to pharmacologically distinct, homo- or heteropentameric, non-selective cationic channels (Millar et al 2012).

lonotropic glutamate receptors: Glutamate may act on metabotropic 7-TM (mGluR) or various ionotropic receptors. Within the latter group, the following non-selective cationic channels can be distinguished: N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDAR) exhibiting high permeability for Ca^{2+} ; α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazoleproprionic acid receptors (AMPAR); and kainate receptors (Peters et al 2012).

Ionotropic purinergic receptors: Extracellular ATP may exert its cellular action by binding to P2Y 7-TM metabotropic and P2X ionotropic purinergic receptors. So far, seven P2X receptors are identified; all of them function as non-selective, mostly Ca²⁺-permeable cationic channels (Khakh et al 2001; Evans et al 2012).

Ionotropic 5-hydroxytryptamine receptors: Among the multiple 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) receptors, only 5-HT3 receptors operate as ligand-gated, cation-selective, pentameric ion channels (Lummis et al 2012).

Ionotropic gamma-aminobutyric acid receptors: Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) signals via ionotropic GABA_A and metabotropic GABA_B receptors. GABA_A receptors are Cl⁻ selective, heteropentameric channels derived from seven main receptor subunits (α , β , γ , δ , ϵ , π and θ) (Olsen and Sieghart 2008; Olsen et al 2012).

Glycine receptors: Similar to GABA_A receptors, glycine receptors also function as pentameric Cl⁻ channels (Lynch 2012).

3.1.3 Transient receptor potential ion channels

Although the IUPHAR database classifies transient receptor potential (TRP) ion channels among the voltage-gated ones (Clapham et al 2012), due to their "mixed" gating properties and, moreover, to their key roles in cutaneous physiology (see below), we decided to detail their characteristics under a separate subheading.

TRP ion channels exhibit intriguing "mixed" gating properties as they function as broadly expressed polymodal "cellular sensors" (Clapham 2003). Indeed, they can be equally activated and/or modulated by e.g. alterations in temperature and pH, osmolarity, ionic concentrations, endogenous mediators, external chemical irritants, membrane potential changes, etc. (Ramsey et al 2006; Damann et al 2008; Vriens et al 2008; Vriens et al 2009). In addition, as we will see below, TRP channels not only act as "sensors", but also as key "effectors" of various physiological (and often pathophysiological) processes such as e.g. cellular homeostasis of different ions, secretory mechanisms, sensory functions of the nervous system, inflammation, proliferation, differentiation, cell survival, etc. (Nilius and Owsianik 2010; Denda and Tsutsumi 2011; Moran et al 2011; Fernandes et al 2012).

Up to date, 28 mammalian members have been identified which can be further classified into the subfamilies of the canonical (or classical, TRPC), the vanilloid (TRPV), the melastatin (TRPM), the mucolipin (TRPML), the polycystin (TRPP), and the ankyrin (TRPA) groups (Clapham et al 2012). As detailed below, multiple TRPs participate in the regulation of skin functions.

3.1.4 Other ion channels

Within this group, we introduce the amiloride-sensitive, epithelial Na⁺ channels (ENaC) which belong to the ENaC/degenerin ion channel family of genetically related glycoproteins. ENaC can be formed by different combinations of four homologous subunits, named ENaC α , β , δ , and γ (de la Rosa et al 2000; Kellenberger and Schildl 2002). The key unique feature of ENaC channels that they are mostly (if not exclusively) expressed on non-neuronal cells.

3.2 Non-ion selective channels

These membrane pores (which are, very often, also permeable for ions) enable the transport of various other molecules. Several members of the below families are involved in cutaneous functions.

3.2.1 Aquaporins

Aquaporins are a family of integral transmembrane proteins that facilitate osmotic fluid transport in numerous human tissues. They are involved in transepithelial and transcellular water movement, although more recent results point to their possible role in gas transport as well. Thirteen mammalian aquaporins have been identified to date, which can be classified into two groups; i) aquaporin molecules that only transport water (AQP-1, AQP-2, AQP-4, AQP-5 and AQP-8) and ii) aqua-glyceroporin molecules that also transport glycerol and other small molecules such as lactic acid (AQP-3, AQP-7, AQP-9 and AQP-10) (Hara-Chikuma and Verkman 2008a).

3.2.2 Connexins

Connexins (Cx) are transmembrane proteins that homo- or heterosextamerize on the plasma membrane to form the hemi-channel connexons. Connexons on adjoining cells associate to form gap junctional channels, and allow the direct passage and exchange of ions, secondary messenger molecules (cAMP, IP₃), energy sources

(ATP, GTP), reducing/oxidizing agents (glutathione) and nutrients (glucose, amino acids) between cells. Therefore, gap junctions are key molecules of cell–cell communications (Proksch et al 2008; Xu and Nickolson 2012).

3.2.3 Pannexins

Pannexins (Panx) are mammalian orthologs of the invertebrate gap junction proteins innexins (Panchin et al 2000). However, pannexins do not take part in the formation of gap junctions; rather they form single membrane channels in cellular communication with the environment (Sosinky et al 2011). To date, three Panxs have been described: Panx1 appears to be ubiquitously expressed whereas Panx2 was mostly found in the adult brain. Panx3 expression was identified in osteoblasts, synovial fibroblasts, whole joints of mouse paws, and cartilage from the inner ear (Baranova et al 2004) as well as in cartilage, the heart, and, of great importance, human skin (Penuela et al 2007). Panx1 has been implicated in numerous cellular functions such as immune response, tumorigenesis, apoptosis, and ischemic cell death. In addition, Panx2 and Panx3 have shown to take part in the differentiation and development of tissues which express these channels (reviewed in Penuela et al 2012a).

4 Roles of channels in skin physiology and in certain dermatoses

In this chapter, we provide an extensive review on the roles of various ion and nonion selective channels in the regulation of certain functions of the skin. Since the involvement of a multitude of (mostly voltage-gated and TRP) ion channels in sensory neuron-coupled functions (such as e.g. thermosensation, pain, itch) are extensively detailed in numerous comprehensive reviews, below, we focus on defining the roles of the channels on non-neuronal cells (summarized in **Table 1**). In addition, we present data on the potential impact of these molecules in certain skin diseases (summarized in **Table 2**).

4.1 <u>Roles of channels in epidermal physical-chemical barrier functions and barrier</u> recovery

As we introduced above (under 2.2.1.), the formation, maintenance, and recovery of the epidermal physical-chemical barrier are mainly determined by the proper, $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$ dependent differentiation program of the epidermal keratinocytes resulting in the lipidembedded layers of corneocytes. Therefore, in this chapter, we introduce roles of channels (which regulate intracellular ionic homeostasis) in controlling growth, differentiation, and survival of keratinocytes. Moreover, we present findings of animal experiments aimed at defining rate of recovery after barrier insults. Finally, since sebaceous gland-derived sebum production is an additional factor of the chemical epidermal barrier, we also detail the related channel physiology of sebocytes.

4.1.1 Voltage-gated channels

4.1.1.1 Voltage-gated Ca²⁺-channels

The main subunit of the L-type voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels, Ca_v α_{1C} , was identified in mouse and human epidermis *in situ* (Denda et al 2006). In addition, functional Ca_v channels were found on cell cultures of normal human epidermal keratinocytes (NHEKs) (Denda et al 2003b; Denda et al 2006). Of great importance, in hairless mice, topical application of Ca_v channel antagonists (nifedipine and R-(+)-BAY K8644) to mechanically injured skin (tape stripping) accelerated barrier recovery whereas treatment with a Ca_v channel agonist (S-(-)-BAY K8644) delayed barrier repair (Denda et al 2006). Likewise, topical application of Ca²⁺ on the skin after str. corneum barrier disruption delayed the recovery of the barrier which effect was prevented by the co-administration of the Ca_v channel antagonists nifedipine and

verapamil (Lee et al 1991). In good agreement with these findings, Ca_v channels were shown to mediate the effects of adrenergic β_2 receptor agonists to inhibit barrier repair (Denda et al 2003b; Denda et al 2006).

Interestingly, in a retrospective case-control study, chronic (>2 years) intake of Ca_v channel blockers (nifedipine, felodipine, and amlodipine) was found to be significantly associated with both the exacerbation as well as the precipitation of new-onset psoriasis (Cohen et al 2001), a skin diseases with altered keratinocyte functions and impaired epidermal skin barrier (reviewed in Proksch et al 2008; Boguniewicz and Leung 2011).

Collectively, these findings suggest that proper Ca_v channel activation is a key factor in the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ -dependent events of keratinocyte differentiation and hence epidermal mechanical barrier formation. However, the above results with the application of Ca_v channel agonists/antagonist and of Ca^{2+} to mechanically injured skin implies that extreme accumulation of Ca^{2+} in the keratinocytes may lead to impaired keratinocyte differentiation and hence barrier recovery (see also under 4.1.5.)

4.1.1.2 Ca²⁺-activated K⁺-channels

Various Ca²⁺-activated K⁺-channels (K_{Ca}) were implicated in the regulation of growth and differentiation of epidermal keratinocytes. Indeed, K_{Ca} channels were identified on both human and mouse epidermis in situ and also on NHEKs. The activation of this 70 pS conductance K_{Ca} channel was shown to be indispensible for the effect of Ca^{2+} -concentration ([Ca^{2+}]_e) to elevated extracellular induce keratinocvte differentiation (Mauro et al 1997). In addition, on cultured human immortalized HaCaT keratinocytes, a large-conductance (170 pS) K_{Ca} channel (BK) (IUPHAR nomenclature: K_{Ca}1.1) was detected and was implicated in the establishment of resting membrane potential; therefore, these channels may also control Ca⁺-influx and differentiation (Nguyen and Markwardt 2002). Furthermore, [Ca2+]e or vitamin D induced differentiation of NHEKs were shown to upregulate mRNA levels of the intermediate-conductance K_{Ca} (IK1) (IUPHAR nomenclature: K_{Ca}3.1) channel (Manaves et al 2004) which were suggested to play a central role in linking changes in membrane potential to the growth and differentiation of HaCaT keratinocytes (Koegel and Alzheimer 2001).

4.1.2 Ligand-gated channels

4.1.2.1 nAChRs

Practically all cell types of the skin express nAChRs which control a plethora of cutaneous functions. These were detailed in comprehensive reviews (Kurzen et al 2004; Grando et al 2006; Curtis and Radek 2012); therefore, below, we only highlight the most important nAChR-coupled functions.

Keratinocytes, as one of the major extra-neuronal sources, were shown to produce and release ACh (Grando et al 1993), similar to a multitude of cutaneous cells which express the ACh-synthesizing enzyme, choline-acetyltransferase (ChAT) (Wessler et al 2003). In addition, an upward (i.e. towards the str. corneum) concentration gradient of free ACh was detected in the epidermis (Nguyen et al 2001), in parallel with the also upward epidermal Ca²⁺ gradient (Hennings et al 1980; Lansdown 2002). Of further importance, *in situ* expressions of multiple nAChR subunits were identified in the human epidermis; α 3, α 5, α 9, and β 2 subunits were localized mainly to the basal layers whereas α 7, α 10, β 1, and β 4 subunits were found in the str. spinosum and granulosum (Nguyen et al 2001; Kurzen et al 2004).

That the above extra-neuronal nAChR-coupled cholinergic system is indeed functional in keratinocytes was shown in numerous studies. In NHEKs, nicotine increased Ca²⁺ influx and increased cellular differentiation (upregulation of expression of keratin 10, transglutaminase type I, involucrin, and filaggrin as well as induction of cornified envelop formation) (Grando et al 1996). As a possible mechanism of action of nicotine, in organotypic keratinocyte cultures, inhibition of α 9 subunit was shown to markedly inhibit epidermal differentiation, suppress expressions of proteins involved in epidermal cell-cell contacts, and induce lipid accumulation in the basal layers suggesting barrier disruption (Kurzen et al 2005; Kurzen et al 2007). In line with these findings, lower levels of cell adhesion molecules (cadherins, catenins) were detected in epidermis of α 9 (as well as α 3) knockout mice (Nguyen et al 2004). Consequently, stimulation of nAChRs resulted epidermal thickening and higher lipid content of the corneal layer (Kurzen et al 2005; Kurzen et al 2007).

Furthermore, as was shown in cultured keratinocytes and knockout animals, elimination of α 7 receptor activities or levels also inhibited differentiation (suppression of levels of filaggrin, loricrin, and cytokeratins). In addition, decreased levels of apoptosis markers (caspase-3), but increased expressions of proliferation markers (Ki-67, proliferation cell nuclear antigen [PCNA]) were detected in epidermis of α 7 knockout mice (Arredondo et al 2002). It is concluded therefore that cutaneous ACh signaling, most probably by inducing Ca²⁺ influx to keratinocytes via multiple nAChR channels, plays a key role in inducing terminal epidermal differentiation and hence barrier formation.

However, topical application of the nAChR agonist nicotine to the skin hairless mice delayed the barrier repair after tape stripping (Denda et al 2003a). Furthermore, topical administration of nicotine to mouse skin also resulted in a marked suppression of AMP production (Radek et al 2010; Curtis and Radek 2012) which, in turn, may lead to barrier impairment (see also below). The possible explanation(s) for these quite "unexpected" findings will be provided under 4.1.5.

4.1.2.2 Ionotropic glutamate receptors

Among these ion channels, certain NMDARs and AMPARs are expressed in epidermal keratinocytes. Indeed, in human skin, the NMDAR1 subunit (IUPHAR nomenclature: GluN1) was found in all layers of the epidermis; the greatest expression was located to the granular layer (Fischer et al 2004a; Fischer et al 2004b). NMDAR1 was also identified on cultured NHEKs and HaCaT keratinocytes (Morhenn et al 1994; Fischer et al 2004a), especially at the site of cell-cell contacts (Nahm et al 2004). NMDAR1 expressed by cultured keratinocytes is functional since the application of NMDA resulted in elevation of [Ca²⁺]_i which was suppressed by MK-801, an NMDAR inhibitor (Fuziwara et al 2003; Nahm et al 2004). Moreover, it appears that the physiological NMDAR-coupled signaling mechanisms are indispensible for proper growth and differentiation of keratinocytes. Indeed, treatment of NHEKs with MK-801 markedly suppressed the expression of differentiation markers cytokeratin 10 and filaggrin (Fischer et al 2004a; Fischer et al 2004b).

Interestingly, in hairless mice, topical application of glutamate (Denda et al 2003a), aspartate (non-specific glutamate receptor agonists), and NMDA (Fuziwara et al

2003), unlike AMPA, delayed the barrier recovery after disruption with tape stripping which effect was effectively abrogated by the co-administration of MK 801 and D-AP5 (another NMDAR antagonist). Of further importance, topical administration of NMDAR antagonists alone accelerated the barrier repair (Fuziwara et al 2003). Since epidermal keratinocytes are able to synthesize and release glutamate (Fischer et al 2009) and, furthermore, barrier injury markedly increased the release glutamate from mouse skin (Fuziwara et al 2003), it is proposed that the ionotropic glutamatergic signaling of keratinocytes plays a key role in the processes of barrier damage. This idea is further strengthened by presenting that NMDAR antagonists specifically inhibited the actions of oleic acid to pathologically increase transepidermal water loss (indicator of barrier impairment) and to induce keratinocyte hyperproliferation in mice. Furthermore, in cultured NHEKs, NMDAR inhibitors likewise inhibited the effects of oleic acid to elevate $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and to stimulate production of IL1 α (Katsuta et al 2009) which cytokine, along with ATP, is regarded as a "mediator" of barrier disruption (Wood et al 1996). The complex role of NMDAR-coupled mechanisms in barrier formation and repair will be discussed under 4.1.5.).

4.1.2.3 P2X receptors

Multiple ionotropic P2X receptors were identified in the skin and were implicated in various skin functions. Since a recent paper (Burnstock et al 2012) reviewed characteristics of the cutaneous purinergic system, we highlight only major components of it.

Several P2X receptors were detected in human epidermis and cultured NHEKs. The expression of mRNA specific for P2X2, P2X3, P2X5, and P2X7 receptors were increased in differentiated cells. Since P2X agonists elevated [Ca²⁺]_i, it is proposed that multiple P2X receptors might be involved in the regulation of epidermal differentiation (Inoue et al 2005).

Indeed, in normal rat epidermis, P2X5 receptors were found to be highly expressed in proliferating and differentiating epidermal keratinocytes in basal and suprabasal layers whereas P2X7 receptors were associated with terminally differentiated keratinocytes in the str. corneum. In addition, expressions of P2X5 receptors were found to be increased in the regenerating epidermis (Greig et al 2003)

Of further importance, similar to the above ACh and glutamate induced mechanisms, ATP was also shown to delay barrier recovery in hairless mice via the stimulation of another purinergic receptor, P2X3, also functionally expressed by epidermal keratinocytes. Consequently, inhibitors of P2X3 receptors accelerated skin barrier repair and prevented epidermal hyperplasia induced by skin barrier disruption (Denda et al 2002a). The significance of these data will be discussed under 4.1.5.

4.1.2.4 5-HT3 receptors

5-HT3 receptors were localized to basal epidermal keratinocytes in human skin *in situ* (Lundeberg et al 2002; Nordlind et al 2006), yet, as of today, we lack information about the functional role of these receptors in epidermal biology. However, as shown below (under 4.6.2.2.), altered expression patterns were observed in psoriatic (but not in AD) skin.

4.1.2.5 GABA_A receptors

As we detailed above, the modulation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ homeostasis of epidermal keratinocytes via various ion channels is a key factor in regulating the physical epidermal barrier. It appears, however, that the control of Cl⁻ influx to keratinocytes establishes an additional mechanism. Indeed, GABA_A receptors were identified in mouse epidermis (Denda et al 2002b). In addition, in the aforementioned hairless mouse model, topical application of GABA accelerated barrier repair and prevented epidermal hyperplasia via the stimulation of epidermal GABA_A receptors (Denda et al 2002b; Denda et al 2003a). In line with these findings, GABA induced Cl⁻ influx to NHEKs which was blocked by the GABA_A receptor antagonist bicucullin. Since GABA can be synthesized by human keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts (Canellakis et al 1983; Ito et al 2007) and hence can be released upon skin barrier injury, it can be postulated that cutaneous non-neuronal GABA-ergic signaling acts as a key autocrine regulator of epidermal barrier homeostasis – just as described for locally produced and released ACh, glutamate, and ATP and their ionotropic receptor-coupled signal transduction mechanisms (for details, see also 4.1.5.).

4.1.2.6 Glycine receptors

Glycine receptors, another group of ligand-gated Cl⁻ channels, are also involved in barrier regeneration. In hairless mice, topical application of glycine, similar to the effect of GABA_A receptor stimulation, accelerated the barrier repair after tape stripping which effect was completely prevented by the glycine receptor antagonist strychnine (Denda et al 2003a).

4.1.3 TRP channels

Numerous TRP channels exhibit permeability for Ca^{2+} , hence significantly modulate cellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis (Holzer 1991; Szallasi and Blumberg 1999; Caterina and Julius 2001; Clapham 2003; Dhaka et al 2006; Nilius and Mahieu 2006; Ramsey et al 2006; Nilius et al 2007; Vriens et al 2009). As detailed above, alterations in the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ markedly affect proliferation and differentiation programs as well as of survival and mediator production of various skin cells (Hennings et al 1980; Lansdown 2002; Proksch et al 2008; Tóth et al 2009b). Therefore, besides the well-appreciated contribution to sensory neuron-coupled sensory processes (e.g. pain, itch) detailed in numerous comprehensive reviews, the functional expression of Ca^{2+} -permeable TRP channels on several non-neuronal skin cell types implicate their roles in controlling cutaneous growth and differentiation.

4.1.3.1 TRPV1

TRPV1, the heat-sensitive (>43 °C) "capsaicin receptor", was originally described on nociceptive sensory neurons (Caterina et al 1997, 2000) and was implicated in a multitude of sensory-neuron coupled processes including sensation of e.g. pain, itch, warm, chemical agents, etc. Moreover, TRPV1 was shown to be involved in neurogenic inflammation and inflammation-related thermal hyperalgesia (reviewed in Szallasi and Blumberg 1999; Caterina and Julius 2001; Clapham 2003; Dhaka et al 2006; Vriens et al 2008, 2009). However, besides sensory neurons, an emerging body of evidence indicates that TRPV1 is widely expressed on several non-neuronal cell-types, including those of the skin. Indeed, expression of TRPV1 was demonstrated on epidermal and hair follicle keratinocytes, mast cells, Langerhans cells, sebocytes and endothelial cells (Bíró et al 1998a; Bíró et al 1998b; Birder et al 2001; Denda et al 2001; Inoue et al 2002; Southall et al 2003; Amantini et al 2004; Bodó et al 2005; Stander et al 2004; Basu and Srivastava 2005; Tóth et al 2009a; Tóth et al 2009b; Tóth et al 2011a).

Functional TRPV1 channels were identified on cultured keratinocytes as well, where their stimulation by either capsaicin or heat induced membrane currents and the influx of Ca²⁺ resulting in the concomitant elevation of [Ca²⁺]_i. These cellular actions were effectively inhibited by capsazepine, a TRPV1 antagonist suggesting the specific involvement of the channel (Inoue et al 2002; Southall et al 2003; Bodó et al 2004; Bodó et al 2005; Radtke et al 2011). Furthermore, just as has been described on numerous extra-cutaneous cell types (Sanchez et al 2006; Prevarskaya et al 2007), activation of TRPV1 (most probably via the resulting Ca²⁺-influx) on NHEKs decreased proliferation and increased apoptosis (Tóth et al 2011a) suggesting that these effects may all contribute to altered barrier functions. Indeed, activation of TRPV1 delayed the barrier recovery after tape stripping which effect was blocked by the topical application of capsazepine (Denda et al 2007b). Likewise, oral administration another TRPV1 antagonist, PAC-14028, also accelerated barrier recovery after mechanical and dermatitis-associated barrier injuries (Yun et al 2011).

Currently, we lack information on the possible roles of TRP channels in the production of those structural lipids, which constitute the major portion of the epidermal chemical barrier. However, TRPV1 channels (and, as suggested by our preliminary observations, TRPV3 and TRPV4 as well) (Oláh et al 2009; Oláh et al 2010; Ambrus et al 2011) are involved in the regulation of lipid-rich sebum production of the sebaceous glands. Indeed, TRPV1 was identified in the human sebaceous gland *in situ* (Bodó et al 2004; Stander et al 2004; Roosterman et al 2006; Zouboulis et al 2008; Tóth et al 2009b). In addition, stimulation of TRPV1 expressed on human sebaceous gland-derived immortalized SZ95 sebocytes (Zouboulis et al 1999) by capsaicin inhibited basal and arachidonic acid-induced lipid synthesis and suppressed expressions of multiple genes involved in cellular lipid homeostasis (Tóth et al 2009b). These data collectively argue for that TRPV1 inhibits the formation and the recovery of the physical-chemical skin barrier.

4.1.3.2 TRPV3 and TRPV4

TRPV3 is most abundantly expressed on epidermal keratinocytes; yet, it was also found on sensory neurons in co-expression with TRPV1 (Peier et al 2002b; Smith et al 2002; Xu et al 2002; Eid and Cortright 2009). TRPV4 was originally described as

an osmoreceptor expressed in various tissues including sensory neurons (Liedtke et al 2000; Strotmann et al 2000; Wissenbach et al 2000; Delany et al 2001) and keratinocytes (Suzuki et al 2003). Both TRPV3 and TRPV4 are activated by physiological, innocuous warm temperature ranges (>33°C for TRPV3 and cca. >30 °C for TRPV4) (Guler et al 2002; Peier et al 2002b; Smith et al 2002; Watanabe et al 2002; Xu et al 2002; Benham et al 2003; Eid and Cortright 2009) and their genetic deletion results in altered sensation of thermal stimuli (Todaka et al 2004; Lee et al 2005; Moqrich et al 2005).

TRPV3 and TRPV4 are implicated in the regulation of the physical-chemical epidermal barrier. Indeed, TRPV3 was found to form a functional complex with the receptor of epidermal growth factor (EGF), which is indispensable for the physiological formation of the barrier. Moreover, deletion of TRPV3 resulted in impaired epidermal barrier formation (e.g. thinner cornified envelope, decreased transglutaminase activity) (Cheng et al 2010). In addition, temperature ranges activating TRPV3 and TRPV4 as well as agonists of TRPV4 (but, interestingly, not of TRPV3) accelerated barrier recovery after tape striping (Denda et al 2007b). The barrier promoting role of TRPV4 was also verified by employing temperature challenges and specific agonists on cultured NHEKs and human skin cultures (Kida et al 2011).

Of further importance, TRPV4 was found to co-localize and interact with junctional proteins (β -catenin and E-cadherin) which further suggest its role in the formation of the epidermal barrier (Kida et al 2011). In support of this proposal, in TRPV4 KO mice, leaky cell-cell junctions and delayed actin rearrangement and stratification were observed which were associated with reduced [Ca²⁺]_i levels and suppressed Rho activation (Sokabe et al 2010; Sokabe and Tominaga 2010).

4.1.3.3 TRPV6

The Ca²⁺-selective TRPV6, a non-thermosensitive member of the TRPV family, was also shown to promote epidermal differentiation and, most probably, barrier formation. Indeed, silencing of TRPV6 impaired keratinocyte differentiation (decreased expression of cytokeratin 10, involucrin and transglutaminase 1; impaired formation of intercellular contacts and stratification) induced by the elevation of

 $[Ca^{2+}]_e$ (Lehen'kyi et al 2007). Moreover, TRPV6-mediated Ca²⁺-influx was shown to be involved in mediating the differentiation-stimulatory effects of vitamin D3 (Bouillon et al 2006; Lehen'kyi et al 2007). Interestingly, treatment of NHEKs with Avène Thermal Spring water (TSW), which was shown to be beneficial in various human dermatoses, increased TRPV6 channel expression and initiated a TRPV6-mediated Ca²⁺-entry that resulted in differentiation (increased expression of involucrin and cytokeratins 1 and 10) (Lehen'kyi et al 2011). In accordance with these findings, the skin of TRPV6 KO mice displays fewer and thinner layers of str. corneum, decreased total Ca²⁺-content, and loss of the normal Ca²⁺-gradient in the skin (Bianco et al 2007).

4.1.3.4 TRPC channels

Various TRPC channels (TRPC1, TRPC4-7) were found to be expressed in keratinocytes (Bezzerides et al 2004; Cai et al 2005; Fatherazi et al 2007), where their expression levels showed marked dependence on differentiation status of the cells (Cai et al 2005; Cai et al 2006; Fatherazi et al 2007). Among them, TRPC1 (Cai et al 2006; Beck et al 2008), TRPC4 (Beck et al 2008) and TRPC6 (Müller et al 2008) were shown to promote the differentiation of epidermal keratinocytes. Indeed, silencing of TRPC1 or TRPC4 prevented $[Ca^{2+}]_e$ -induced differentiation (Beck et al 2008). Moreover, TRPC6 activation by hyperforin induced NHEK differentiation and inhibition of cell proliferation (Müller et al 2008). Likewise, TRPC6 was shown to mediate (at least in part) the epidermal differentiation-promoting effects of triterpenes, which inhibit cancer cell growth of various cell types (reviewed in Shanmugam et al 2012). Triterpenes increased Ca^{2+} -influx and upregulated various differentiation markers in a TRPC6-dependent manner, and also elevated the expression of TRPC6 in keratinocytes and in human skin explants (Woelfle et al 2010).

4.1.3.5 TRPA1

Like many other TRP channels, TRPA1 was first identified on sensory neurons (Story et al 2003; Kobayashi et al 2005). The channel can be activated by noxious cold (<17 °C) and other agents (e.g. mustard oil, allyl isothiocyanate, cinnamaldehyde, formalin, and nicotine) (Bandell et al 2004; Jordt et al 2004; McNamara et al 2007; Karashima et al 2009; Talavera et al 2009). Similar to its closest "functional relative", i.e. TRPV1, TRPA1 was also shown to be involved in numerous sensory neuron-

coupled processes such as e.g. thermosensation, pain, itch, neurogenic inflammation, etc. (Dhaka et al 2006; Nilius and Mahieu 2006; Ramsey et al 2006; Nilius et al 2007).

Importantly, TRPA1 expression was also reported on epidermal keratinocytes. Exposure of NHEKs to low temperature (13-15 °C) or to TRPA1 agonists (allyl isothiocyanate or cinnamaldehyde) induced elevation of [Ca²⁺]_e, which was prevented by the co-application of the TRPA1 antagonist HC030031; interestingly, these effects were more prominent on undifferentiated cells (Tsutsumi et al 2010). Moreover, treatment of NHEKs with icilin (activator of both TRPA1 and TRPM8, another cold-sensitive channel, see below) caused alterations in the expressions of adhesion and extracellular matrix components as well as molecules regulating cell cycle, apoptosis, and differentiation (Atoyan et al 2009; Bíró and Kovács 2009).

These data suggest that TRPA1 on keratinocytes may regulate the epidermal barrier. Indeed, following tape striping to mice, topical application of the above TRPA1 agonists accelerated barrier recovery, which effect was prevented by pretreatment with HC030031. Interestingly, HC030031 alone delayed the barrier recovery which argues for the "constitutive" role of TRPA1 in epidermal barrier homeostasis. Local cooling of the skin (10-15 °C for 1 min) evoked similar effects, most probably via accelerated secretion of (barrier-forming) lamellar bodies at the interface of stratum granulosum and corneum; this action was also inhibited by the TRPA1 antagonist (Denda et al 2010b).

4.1.3.6 TRPM channels

TRPM8 is another cold sensitive (<25 °C) channel, originally found on a specific subset of sensory neurons which usually do not express TRPV1. The channel is considered as a major sensor of environmental cold stimuli and it can also be activated by menthol, eucalyptol or the synthetic "supercooling" agent icilin (McKemy et al 2002; Peier et al 2002a; Bautista et al 2007; Colburn et al 2007).

Importantly, topical application of menthol or the TRPM8 agonist WS12 to mice potentiated the barrier recovery after tape stripping, which effect was blocked by the TRPM8 specific antagonist BTCT (Denda et al 2010a). Since TRPM8 was identified on epidermal keratinocytes (Denda et al 2010a), these results argue for that (similar to the other cold receptor, TRPA1) TRPM8 is also involved in skin homeostasis.

4.1.4 Non-ion selective channels

4.1.4.1 Aquaporins

Numerous APQs were shown to play key roles in various cutaneous functions. AQP3, the key aquaglyceroporin, regulate hydration of the skin, a major determinant of the physical properties of the epidermis (see reviewed in Hara-Chikuma and Verkman 2008a; Qin et al 2011). APQ3 is abundantly expressed and functionally localized in cultured keratinocytes (Sugiyama et al 2001) and to the basal and spinous layers (but, importantly, not in the str. corneum) of human and rat epidermis *in situ* (Frigeri et al 1995; Matsuzaki et al 1999; Sougrat et al 2002). In addition, AQP3 levels (as well as water and glycerol contents) were higher in proliferating mouse keratinocytes but were reduced upon $[Ca^{2+}]_e$ or vitamin D3 induced differentiation (Zheng and Bollag 2003; Hara-Chikuma et al 2009).

In perfect agreement with these findings, AQP3-deficient mice exhibit a characteristic skin phenotype such as dry, rough and aged skin appearance, reduced glycerol content and hydration of the epidermis (Ma et al 2002), impaired elasticity, and delayed barrier recovery after tape stripping (Hara et al 2002). Interestingly, expressions of differentiation markers and the differentiation process of keratinocytes as well as epidermal structure and lipid, amino acid, and ionic contents were not different from those of the wildtype animals (Hara et al 2002; Hara-Chikuma et al 2009). Of further importance, the cutaneous malfunctions of AQP3-deficient mice could be corrected by oral administration of glycerol which points to an intrinsic defect in water-holding capacity of the skin due to the lack of glycerol transport (Hara and Verkman 2003).

It is noteworthy that AQP3 was also identified in sebaceous glands (Frigeri et al 1995). Since epidermal glycerol, mostly located to the str. corneum, is also derived from sebaceous glands (Fluhr et al 2003), further studies are invited to determine the relative contribution of AQP3 localized to sebaceous glands in the regulation of the glycerol homeostasis of the skin.

It should also be mentioned that other AQPs (e.g. AQP1, 9, and 10) were also identified in human and murine keratinocytes and epidermis (Sugiyama et al 2001; Boury-Jamot et al 2006; Rojek et al 2007). Yet, their functional role is not known.

4.1.4.2 Connexins

In animal models (and in different human skin conditions, see below), the central role of certain gap-junction-forming connexins in the establishment of the epidermal barrier was suggested (reviewed in Proksch et al 2008). Indeed, mice lacking the C-terminal region of Cx43, the most abundantly expressed connexin form in the human epidermis, show a highly defective epidermal barrier, most probably due to suppressed filaggrin expression and hence impaired terminal differentiation of the epidermal keratinocytes (Maass et al 2004). On the other hand, downregulation of another connexin, Cx26, is required for barrier acquisition during development. Indeed, epidermal overexpression of Cx26 (which is hardly detectable in the healthy, adult epidermis) resulted in the development of psoriasiform hyperproliferation and infiltration of immune cells. Moreover, overexpression of Cx26 induced ATP release from keratinocytes which, in turn, delayed epidermal barrier recovery (Djalilian et al 2006).

4.1.4.3 Pannexins

Expressions of Panx1 and 3 have been described both in human (Penuela et al 2007) and murine (Celetti et al 2010) epidermal keratinocytes. Interestingly, the expression pattern of Panx1 changed in embryonic and newborn skin, with a higher expression found after birth (Panx3 expression showed no such alteration). Functionally, when overexpressed in organotypic rat keratinocytes, both Panxs decreased cell proliferation, whereas Panx1 also disrupted the architecture of organotypic epidermis and dysregulated the expression and cellular localization of cytokeratin 14 (Celetti et al 2010). Taken together, these findings suggest that certain Panxs (especially Panx1) are important factors in keratinocyte differentiation.

4.1.5 The complex "channel" regulation of the epidermal barrier – Controversies, explanations, theories

As detailed above, the delicate regulation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and the coupled Ca^{2+} -dependent processes is the key event in controlling the physiological growth and differentiation

of keratinocytes. Correspondingly, numerous Ca^{2+} -permeable channels were shown to promote the (terminal) differentiation of keratinocytes. These include voltage-gated Ca_v channels; K_{Ca} K⁺-channels; nAChRs subtypes $\alpha 3$, $\alpha 7$, and $\alpha 9$; NMDAR glutamate receptors; P2X5 and P2X7 purinergic receptors; and TRPC1, C4, C6 as well as TRPV6 (and possibly TRPV3, TRPA1, and TRPM8) TRP channels.

However, although the formation and maintenance of the epidermal physicalchemical barrier is based on the proper keratinocyte differentiation program, the activation of some of these channels (Ca_v channels, nAChRs, NMDARs, purinergic receptors) was shown to delay, whereas stimulation of others (TRPV4, TRPA1, TRPM8, and possibly TRPV3 and V6) accelerated the recovery of the barrier after mechanical disruption (**Figure 3**).

As possible explanations for these quite unexpected findings, the followings could be listed:

- As we presented above, keratinocytes are able to synthesize and release ACh, ATP, and glutamate. Moreover, an "upward" Ca²⁺-gradient was described in the epidermis. Therefore, these locally produced, autocrine/paracrine mediators constitutively promote the differentiation of keratinocytes, via the activation of their respective ionotropic, Ca²⁺-permeable receptors/channels and the concomitant increase in [Ca²⁺]_i.
- However, during mechanical disruption of the epidermis, the release of these endogenous agents from keratinocytes is markedly increased and the highlevel activation of their receptors may result in an excessive Ca²⁺ influx which impairs keratinocyte differentiation. It appears, therefore, that the intracutaneous "ACh-ATP-glutamate-Ca²⁺ tone" is indispensible for the maintenance of the healthy barrier; however, when this "fine-tuned tone" is pathologically augmented, these agents may start functioning as mediators of the barrier injury itself.
- The validity of this theory is supported by experimental data obtained after topical administration of these agents as well as their agonists and antagonists to mechanically injured barrier (tape stripping) in mice. Indeed, topical agonists (by further increasing the already highly augmented "tone") delayed barrier

recovery whereas antagonists (by normalizing the "tone") accelerated the rate of recovery.

- However, experimental data about the role of TRPV4, TRPA1, and TRPM8 channels do not really fit to this theory. Namely, as detailed before, the activation of these (likewise) Ca²⁺-permeable channels also stimulated epidermal differentiation. Interestingly, topical application of their agonists after tape stripping in contrast to the effects of ionotropic cholinergic, glutamatergic, and purinergic stimulations accelerated barrier repair.
- With respect to the promoting role of TRPV4 it was suggested that, due to its sensitivity to not only to moderate heat but also to osmotic challenges, it may act as part of the "keratinocytes sensory system" that recognizes water flux (Sokabe and Tominaga 2010). A possible support for this hypothesis could be that AQP3 water (and glycerol) channels are actively participating in the barrier regeneration processes by increasing water flux and water content within the epidermis. Nevertheless, the direct or indirect connection between TRPV4 and AQP3 has not yet revealed.
- Also, further studies are needed to clarify the (most probably distinct) signaling pathways which are initiated after induction of TRPA1 or TRPM8 activities by agonists or by cooling of the skin surface.

Finally, it should be mentioned that the induction of Cl⁻-influx to keratinocytes by topical activation of GABA-ergic and glycinergic signaling mechanisms also accelerated barrier regeneration. As possible mechanisms of action, it can be postulated that the Cl⁻-influx results in hyperpolarization of the cell membrane which (as a pro-proliferating factor) speeds up the turn-over of keratinocytes to "heal" the barrier. In addition, the Cl⁻-mediated hyperpolarization may counterbalance the effect of the augmented "ACh-ATP-glutamate-Ca²⁺ tone" thereby preventing the excessive Ca²⁺ influx and its damaging consequences.

Nevertheless, since modulation of the activities of these, rather complex, mechanisms may represent novel therapeutic approaches; further studies are urgently invited to (i) dissect the exact mechanistic details of their modes of action; and ii) explore their impact in such high-prevalence "barrier diseases" as AD or psoriasis.

4.2 Roles of channels in wound healing

Like in the formation and regeneration of the epidermal physical-chemical barrier, multiple channels participate in the complex multi-cellular events of wound healing.

4.2.1 Voltage-gated channels

4.2.1.1 Voltage-gated and Ca²⁺-activated K⁺-channels

All three members of the K_{Ca} channel family – i.e. large-conductance BK, intermediate-conductance IK, and small-conductance K_{Ca} – were identified on cultured human dermal fibroblasts. Moreover, activation of BK or IK K_{Ca} channels decreased the proliferation of fibroblasts and induced apoptotic changes by mitochondrial membrane potential disruption (but without the involvement of the caspase-dependent apoptotic pathways) (Yun et al 2010). In addition, nitric oxide (NO), which plays an important promoting role in wound healing (Shi et al 2003), was shown to stimulate BK K_{Ca} channel activity via the engagement of protein kinase A and G coupled signaling pathways in human dermal fibroblast (Lim et al 2005; Roh et al 2007) and via increasing cyclic-GMP in human hair follicle-derived dermal papilla fibroblasts (Nameda et al 1996). It appears, therefore, that K_{Ca} are involved in fibroblast-driven cutaneous wound healing.

Other voltage-gated K⁺-channels (fast-inactivating A-type K⁺-channels; inward rectifier (K_{ir}) K⁺-channels; cell-to-cell contact-associated K⁺-channels) as well as Na⁺ channels (tetrodotoxin-sensitive Na⁺-channels) were also identified on human dermal fibroblasts; yet their functional roles were not revealed (Estacion 1991).

4.2.2 Ligand-gated channels

4.2.2.1 nAChRs

Keratinocyte migration events, such as chemokinesis and chemotaxis, are key events of epithelial re-epithelialization during wound healing (Epstein 1999, Enoch and Leaper 2005; Reinke and Sorg 2012). Since locally produced ACh, which could be released during injury of the skin, may act as both a chemokine and a chemoattractant for cell migration (reviewed in Gando et al 2006), involvement of non-neuronal nicotinergic signaling in wound healing is also proposed. Indeed, $\alpha 3\beta 2$ nAChR channels were shown to play central roles in mediating ACh-dependent
chemokinesis whereas α 7 nAChRs were found to be involved in chemotaxis (Chernyavsky et al 2004). In addition, α 7 channels (and a complex intracellular signaling pathway involving Ras/Raf-1/MEK1/ERK-mediated upregulation of integrins) were described to control directional migration of keratinocytes (Chernyavsky et al 2005). Finally, α 9 nAChRs seem to be indispensable for the initial phase of epithelialization as the coupled signaling controls the dynamics and strength of cell-cell cohesion as well as the disassembly and reassembly of focal adhesions (Chernyavskyet al 2007).

Another key cell type of wound healing is the dermal fibroblasts (see above, 2.2.1.4) which also possess a functional cholinergic system. Indeed, α 3, α 5, α 7, β 2, and β 4 nAChRs were described in cultured human dermal fibroblast. Among these, as reveled by gene silencing, mainly α 3 nAChR channels were implicated in mediating the effects of nicotine to significantly modulate cell growth, cycling, and survival (upregulation of p21, cyclin D1, PCNA, Ki-67, caspase 3 and bcl-2 mRNA transcripts) as well as production of extracellular matrix components (upregulation of collagen type $l\alpha_1$, elastin, and matrix metalloproteinase-1, MMP-1). Therefore, the cholinergic system may play a key role in controlling proper dermal fibroblast functions involved in tissue remodeling and wound healing (Arredondo et al 2003).

4.2.2.2 GABA_A receptors

Of further importance, non-neuronal GABA-ergic mechanisms seem to not only stimulate epidermal barrier recovery, but also cutaneous wound healing. In a rat excisional open wound model, topical GABA, treatment, most probably via activation of GABA_A receptors, was shown to effectively accelerate the healing process (especially its early phase) by stimulating keratinocyte reepithelialization and fibroblast organization as well as by upregulating fibroblast growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor, implying extracellular matrix synthesis and remodeling of the skin (Han et al 2007). Further supporting its promoting role, GABA was shown to stimulate the synthesis of hyaluronic acid, a key component of the extracellular matrix, and to enhance the survival rate of the human dermal fibroblasts against oxidative stress (Ito et al 2007).

4.2.3 TRP channels

4.2.3.1 TRPV1

Although the expression of functional TRPV1 channels was described on human dermal fibroblasts (Kim et al 2006), the role of the channels in fibroblast-specific functions was not assessed. However, activation of TRPV1 by capsaicin in organcultured human scalp hair follicles (HF) inhibited hair shaft elongation and induced premature follicular regression (catagen transformation) (Bodó et al 2005). In line with these data, stimulation of TRPV1 in HF-derived cultured outer root sheath (ORS) keratinocytes, which showed the greatest TRPV1 expression in the HF (Bodó et al 2004; Stander et al 2004; Bodó et al 2005), resulted in suppression of proliferation and the onset of apoptosis. The growth inhibitory role of TRPV1 was further verified in TRPV1 knockout mice; i.e. a remarkable delay in the onset of the apoptosis-driven catagen retardation was observed when compared to the HF cycle of wildtype animals (Bíró et al 2006).

As mentioned above, the HF (and especially the ORS compartment) is a rich source of stem cells activated during wound healing and tissue regeneration in general. Therefore, these data collectively suggest that TRPV1-coupled signaling rather inhibits wound healing, just as seen for the formation and regeneration of the epidermal barrier (see above).

4.2.3.2 TRPV3

As will be discussed below (see under 4.4.2.1.), activation of TRPV3 on keratinocytes by heat or various agonists results in the release of various mediators. Among these, NO, released upon TRPV3 stimulation of keratinocytes, was shown to promote keratinocyte migration *in vitro* and, as expected, wound healing *in vivo* (Miyamoto et al 2011).

Furthermore, using the above HF organ-culture and ORS cell culture models, we have recently shown that activation of TRPV3, identical to the above action of TRPV1, inhibited hair shaft elongation and cellular proliferation and induced apoptosis (Borbíró et al 2011). Interestingly, TRPV3 KO mice exhibited only subtle and irregular hair abnormalities (wavy hair coat and curly whiskers) (Moqrich et al 2005). However, a gain-of-function (Gly573Ser) mutation of the *trpv3* gene resulted in a spontaneous hairless phenotype in DS-*Nh* mice (Yoshioka et al 2009) as well as in

hairless WBN/Kob-Ht rats (Asakawa et al 2006; Imura et al 2007). These results collective argue for the negative regulatory role of TRPV3 in the HF.

4.2.4 Non-ion selective channels

4.2.4.1 Aquaporins

In addition to impaired epidermal differentiation and barrier functions, a delayed wound healing process was also seen in AQP3-deficient mice (Hara et al 2002; Hara-Chikuma and Verkman 2008a), which suggests the role of AQP3 in promoting epidermal cell migration and proliferation. Indeed, by using AQP3-knockdown (small interfering RNA) NHEK cultures and AQP3-knockout mouse keratinocyte cultures (Hara-Chikuma and Verkman 2008c), it was proposed that the water, transported via AQP3, is likely to play a role in epidermal hydration and hence migration controlled by changes in the hydrostatic pressure. On the other hand, the transported glycerol may equally act as an energy source for ATP production; a precursor for fat and phospholipid synthesis (such as phosphatidylglycerol, a phospholipase D product, which is known to regulate keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation (Qin et al 2011); and an osmotically active agent (Hara-Chikuma and Verkman 2008b).

4.2.4.2 Connexins

As shown above, Cx26 promotes proliferation (and inhibits differentiation) of keratinocytes. In line with these data, expression of Cx26 was found to be increased during the epidermal regeneration phase of wound healing (Brandner et al 2004), with an additional suppression of the level of the pro-differentiating Cx43 (Wang et al 2007).

4.3 <u>Roles of channels in cutaneous immune functions and in the "formation" of the</u> <u>immunological barrier</u>

The skin possesses its own immune system which involves numerous cellular and humoral components of the innate and adaptive immunity. Immuno-competent cells express various ion channels which, as shown below, play significant roles in the regulation of cutaneous inflammatory and immune responses.

4.3.1 Voltage-gated channels

Although expressions of genes encoding various voltage-gated K⁺-channels (K_{ir}2.1, K_{ir}2.4, and BK K_{Ca} α and β 4 channel subunits), Na⁺-channels (Na_v1.8 and Na_v1.9 channels as well as the auxiliary subunit Na_v β 1.1), and Ca²⁺-channels (the auxiliary subunit Ca_v $\alpha_2\delta_2$) were identified on human skin-derived mast cells (Bradding et al 2003), their functional role is not known. Likewise, we lack data on whether the functional voltage-gated channels expressed by keratinocytes and fibroblasts may participate in the immune responses of these cells.

4.3.2 Ligand-gated channels

4.3.2.1 nAChRs

Nicotinic AChR-coupled signaling was suggested to be involved in cutaneous inflammatory responses. As we mentioned above, topical administration of nicotine to mouse skin resulted in a marked suppression of AMP production which affect was reversed by the nAChR antagonist α-bungarotoxin (Radek et al 2010). Likewise, stimulated production of AMPs (LL-27 cathelicidin, β-defensin) in NHEKs was suppressed by ACh which effect was reversed by a-bungarotoxin. Of further importance, Chga knockout mice, which exhibit unopposed nAChR activation due to genetic deletion of the endogenous nAChR inhibitor, catestatin (Mahapatra et al 2005), showed increased susceptibility to bacterial infections. These data propose that the proper intracutaneous cholinergic ACh-nAChR signaling not only regulates skin barrier formation and wound healing (see above, 4.1.2.1. and 4.2.2.1.), but also the innate host defense of the skin. Moreover, since activity of the neuronal and the non-neuronal, cholinergic systems is markedly increased during chronic stress, the pathological augmentation of the above mechanism may contribute to the highly elevated susceptibility to infection following prolonged stress (Radek et al 2010; Curtis and Radek 2012).

4.3.2.2 P2X receptors

Certain P2X receptors were also implicated in skin immune functions and inflammation. Indeed, in human skin vascular endothelial cells, among the several ionotropic purinergic receptors expressed by these cells, P2X4 was described in mediating the effect of ATP to increase Ca²⁺-influx and to induce the release of the pro-inflammatory and vasoactive NO and prostaglandin PGI₂ (Yamamoto et al 2000). In addition, among P2X receptors, the human dermal microvascular endothelial cell-1

(HMEC-1) cell line was shown to strongly express P2X4, P2X5, and P2X7 receptors and weakly express P2X1 and P2X3 receptors (Seiffert et al 2006). Administration of ATP γ S, a hydrolysis-resistant purinergic agonist, to HMEC-1 cells increased the release of numerous pro-inflammatory mediators (IL-6, IL-8, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, growth-regulated oncogene- α) and upregulated the expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1); these events were effectively prevented by various purinergic antagonists.

Of further importance, intradermal administration of ATP γ S in mice resulted in an enhanced contact hypersensitivity response and the induction of delayed-type hypersensitivity. Moreover, in cultured mouse Langerhans cells, ATP γ S (in the presence of bacterial lipopolysaccharide [LPS] and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor) enhanced the antigen-presenting functions of the cells (Granstein et al 2005). In perfect line with these data, mice lacking the P2X7 receptor were shown to be resistant to contact hypersensitivity. Dendritic cells from P2X7-deficient mice failed to induce sensitization to contact allergens and did not release IL-1 β , a key molecule in the sensitization process, in response to LPS and ATP (Weber et al 2010).

Expression of functional P2X7 receptors was also demonstrated both on human and mouse epidermal Langerhans cells (Georgiou et al 2005; Tran et al 2010). Activation of P2X7 on human Langerhans cells induced downstream signaling events, i.e. shedding of the low-affinity receptor for IgE (CD23), which effect was impaired in Langerhans cells obtained from subjects homozygous for the loss-of-function polymorphism in the P2X7 receptor (Georgiou et al 2005).

On cultured NHEKs, extracellular ATP displayed a complex regulation of interferon-γ stimulated chemokine expression, with upregulation of chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), CCL5 and CXC chemokine ligand 8 (CXCL8), and suppression of the receptor CXC chemokine receptor 3 (CXCR3), CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11. It is suggested that P2X7 receptors are involved in this complex process (Pastore et al 2007). Of further importance, P2X7 receptors expressed by human keratinocytes were also implicated as key components of the signaling pathway (P2X7-SFK-Akt-CREB/ATF1) activated by LL-37 cathelicidin, a multifunctional immunomodulatory AMP, to augment the

production of immune mediators in response to microbial compounds (Nijnik et al 2012).

Stimulation of functional P2X7 receptors was also found to induce the release of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 on human skin fibroblasts (Solini et al 1999). In addition, augmented ATP release and enhanced P2X7 receptor-mediated cellular responses (including microvesiculation, enhanced fibronectin and IL-6 secretion, accelerated apoptosis) were demonstrated on dermal fibroblasts of type 2 diabetic subjects (Solini et al 2004).

Collectively, it is proposed that ATP, when released after trauma, infection or exposure to contact allergens, may act as an endogenous adjuvant to enhance the immune response, most probably via P2X7-coupled signaling found on immunocompetent keratinocytes, Langerhans cells, microvascular endothelial cells, and fibroblasts. Interference with P2X7 receptors may therefore be a promising strategy for the prevention of allergic contact dermatitis and possibly other inflammatory skin conditions.

4.3.2.3 GABA_A receptors

In NC/Nga mice, a murine model of AD, oral administration GABA reduced the development of AD-like skin lesions, most probably by suppressing serum immunoglobulin E and splenocyte IL-4 production (Hokazono et al 2010). Although it cannot be excluded that the above beneficial effects were due to the aforementioned effects of GABA to promote barrier formation and repair (which processes are highly impaired in AD), these results also propose the anti-inflammatory functions of the non-neuronal GABA-ergic signaling of the skin.

4.3.3 TRP channels

As mentioned above (2.2.2.), activation of sensory afferents in the skin results in the release of various neuropeptides (SP, CGRP) which – via the stimulation of immunocompetent cells of the skin (e.g. keratinocytes, sebocytes, mast cells, etc.) and the concomitant induction of liberation of various inflammatory mediators (cytokines, chemokines, vasoactive agents) from these cells – induces neurogenic inflammation (Ansel et al 1997; Luger 2002; Paus et al 2006a and b; Peters et al

2007; Fuchs and Horsley 2008). With respect to TRP channels, TRPV1 and TRPA1 were implicated in this process. However, the identification of various functional TRPs on non-neuronal cell types of the skin suggests that these molecules are also involved in non-neurogenic skin inflammation.

4.3.3.1 TRPV1

As we have detailed above (4.1.3.1.), the TRPV1 inhibitor PAC-14028, when applied orally, accelerated barrier recovery after tape stripping. However, PAC-14028 seems to be beneficial against experimentally induced AD as well (Yun et al 2011). Indeed, in a mouse model of AD (induced by *Dermatophagoides farina* and oxazolone), the orally administered TRPV1 antagonist was able to efficiently prevent the dermatitis-associated barrier damages (by suppressing of trans-epidermal water loss, inducing reconstruction of epidermal lipid layers, and normalizing of altered expressions of epidermal differentiation markers) and, at the same time, improved the AD-like symptoms (clinical severity, skin score, serum IgE levels, mast cell degranulation status, etc.).

In good agreement with these *in vivo* data, TRPV1 activation on cultured human keratinocytes by capsaicin resulted in the induction of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and the release of pro-inflammatory IL-8 and PGE₂ (Southall et al 2003). Importantly, stimulation of TRPV1 by heat on NHEKs not only altered proliferation and cellular survival, but also induced MMP-1 production (Li et al 2007; Lee et al 2008). Likewise, TRPV1-coupled Ca²⁺-dependent signaling was shown to be involved in mediating the effects of UV irradiation to upregulate MMP-1 in cultured keratinocytes (Lee et al 2009b). Furthermore, in a mouse model, the TRPV1 inhibitor 5'-iodoresiniferatoxin (I-RTX), when applied topically, was shown effectively prevent the UV-induced reactions (skin thickening, inflammation, upregulation of MMPs, COX-2, and pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1β, IL-2, IL-4, tumor necrosis factor- α , TNF α) (Lee et al 2011).

Finally, it should be mentioned that activation of TRPV1 by capsaicin on cultured HFderived ORS keratinocytes (besides inducing cellular arrest and apoptosis, see above under 4.2.3.1.) stimulated the synthesis of the pro-inflammatory IL-1 β and transforming growth factor- β_2 (Bodó et al 2005). These results collectively argue for the pro-inflammatory role of TRPV1 in non-neurogenic cutaneous inflammation.

4.3.3.2 TRPV3

As we have detailed above (4.2.3.2.), the gain-of-function (Gly573Ser) mutation of the *trpv3* gene resulted in a hairless phenotype in mice and rats. However, of great importance, this mutation is also accompanied by a spontaneously developing ADlike dermatitis (Asakawa et al 2006; Xiao et al 2008). Moreover, keratinocyte-targeted transgenic overexpression of the mutant TRPV3^{Gly573Ser} channels in mice also led to the development of AD-like cutaneous (dermatitis, hyperkeratosis, itch, infiltration of mast cells and CD4+ lymphocytes, increased skin nerve growth factor [NGF] levels) and systemic (increased serum levels of IgE and pro-inflammatory cytokines) symptoms (Yoshioka et al 2009). As a further support for its pro-inflammatory role, TRPV3 stimulation in cultured keratinocytes by agonists (eugenol, 2aminoethoxydiphenyl borate) or heat was shown to induce the release of the proinflammatory IL-1 α and PGE₂ (Xu et al 2006; Huang et al 2008).

4.3.3.3 TRPA1

TRPA1, similar to TRPV1 and TRPV3, also seems to act as a pro-inflammatory channel. Stimulation of TRPA1 on NHEKs induced the synthesis of the pro-inflammatory IL-1 α and IL-1 β (Atoyan et al 2009). Moreover, as expected, topical application of the TRPA1 agonist cinnamaldehyde induced skin inflammation. Interestingly, however, whereas the edema component was prevented by aprepitant, an antagonist of the tachykinin NK1 receptor recognizing SP released from sensory afferent upon TRPA1 stimulation, it was not affected by HC030031, a TRPA1 antagonist. On the contrary, the cinnamaldehyde-induced leukocyte infiltration was effectively suppressed by the TRPA1 inhibitor whilst the NK1 antagonist was ineffective (Silva et al 2011).

These intriguing data suggest that the TRPA1-coupled signaling on sensory neurons and non-neuronal skin cells, when co-activated e.g. by topical or intracutaneous administrations of agonists, act in concert to equally induce neurogenic and nonneurogenic skin inflammation. We propose that this is the case for TRPV1 and possibly for TRPV3 as well.

4.3.4 Non-ion selective channels

4.3.4.1 Aquaporins

The aquaglyceroporin AQP7 was identified on mouse dermal and epidermal dendritic cells. In dendritic cells isolated from AQP7 deficient mice, significantly decreased antigen uptake and reduced chemokine-dependent cell migration were identified in comparison to wild-type cells. Moreover, AQP7-deficient mice exhibited a suppressed accumulation of antigen-retaining dendritic cells in the lymph node after antigen application to the skin. These results suggest that AQP7 in skin dendritic cells is primarily involved in antigen uptake and in the subsequent migration of the cells which suggest their role in the initiation of the concomitant immune responses (Hara-Chikuma et al 2012). AQP3 and AQP9 were also found in monocyte-derived Langerhans cells but their role is still unclear (Boury-Jamot et al 2006).

In addition, TNFα coupled signaling (involving p38 and Erk kinase cascades) was shown to suppress AQP3 expression in cultured keratinocytes which effect may contribute to the pro-inflammatory effects of this cytokine (Horie et al 2009).

4.4 <u>"Sensory roles" of epidermal keratinocytes</u>

As we detailed above (2.2.2.), various stimuli that reach the skin may not only activate sensory afferent fibers, but also non-neuronal skin-derived cells. Among these cells, direct activation of epidermal keratinocytes, which establish the very first line of defense, results in the release of various mediators. These agents, in turn, act on the sensory afferents and induce their excitation. Therefore, keratinocytes and, via the established multi-cellular neuronal – non-neuronal cell networks, possibly other skin-derived cells significantly contribute to skin sensory physiology.

4.4.1 Voltage-gated ion channels

4.4.1.1 Voltage-gated Na⁺-channels

Various voltage-gated Na⁺-channels were identified on epidermal keratinocytes. Na_v1.1, Na_v1.6, and Na_v1.8, expressed on rat cultured keratinocytes, were shown to contribute to the release of ATP from these cells (Zhao et al 2008). It was suggested that the release ATP, in turn, may stimulate nociceptive sensory afferents (located in a close vicinity of epidermal keratinocytes in the epidermis) (Ansel et al, 1997) and

hence may initiate pain. In addition, *in situ* epidermal expressions of Na_v1.5, Na_v1.6, and Na_v1.7 were identified on histological skin sections from healthy human subjects. Interestingly, levels of these channels were shown to be markedly increased in skin samples obtained from patients with various pain syndromes (complex regional pain syndrome type 1 and post-herpetic neuralgia), with additional appearances of Na_v1.1, Na_v1.2, and Na_v1.8. Although it is not known whether or not these channels contribute to the regulation of keratinocyte growth control, the "sensory roles" of the increased Na⁺-channel expression in the pathogenesis of the above pain syndromes is suggested (Zhao et al 2008).

4.4.1.2 Two-pore K⁺ channels (K_{2P})

Six two-pore K⁺ channels (TASK-1, TASK-2, TASK-3, TREK-1, TREK-2 and TRAAK) were described in human epidermal HaCaT keratinocytes as well as in rat skin. Since K⁺ currents were induced by different activators of these channels (arachidonic acid and heat), these results suggest that K_{2P} channels could act as thermosensors in human keratinocytes (Kang et al 2007).

4.4.2 TRP channels

4.4.2.1 TRPV3

Similar to the above, TRPV3 (and most probably of TRPV4) expressed by keratinocytes may also provide thermo-sensory functions these cells. Namely, moderate heat-activation of TRPV3 expressed by keratinocytes resulted in the release of ATP which, in turn, may stimulate sensory neurons (Chung et al 2003; Chung et al 2004; Lee et al 2005; Mandadi et al 2009). Likewise, overexpression of TRPV3 in keratinocytes was shown to modulate sensory processes by the TRPV3-mediated release of PGE2 (Huang et al 2008). Finally, NO, which is released from keratinocytes upon TRPV3 stimulation, not only promotes keratinocyte migration and wound healing (see above, 4.2.3.2.), but also regulates thermosensory behavior, most probably by acting on and hence stimulating thermosensitive sensory afferents (Miyamoto et al 2011).

4.4.3 Other ion channels

4.4.3.1 Amiloride-sensitive Na⁺ channels

Amiloride-sensitive epithelial Na⁺ channels (ENaC δ) were also found in human epidermis. In cultured NHEKs, acidic stress, activator of these channels, evoked ATP release which was inhibited by amiloride. Interestingly, ENaC β and γ were also identified in human keratinocytes; yet, their physiological functions are not known. These data suggest that ENaC δ expressed by keratinocytes may be involved in pH sensing of the skin (Yamamura et al 2008b).

4.5 Other skin functions

Here, we mostly detail the roles of various channels in the control of sweat production and skin metabolism.

4.5.1 Voltage-gated channels

4.5.1.1 Ca²⁺-activated K⁺-channels

 K_{Ca} channels also play key roles in regulating exocrine gland functions of the skin. Indeed, BK K_{Ca} channels were identified on primary cultures of human (Henderson and Cuthbert 1991a) and equine (Huang et al 1999) eccrine sweat gland cells as well as on exocrine gland cells in frog skin (Andersen et al 1995; Sørensen et al 2001). In human cell cultures (especially in the younger, dividing ones), these BK K_{Ca} channels, located on the basolateral membrane of the cell, were implicated in the Ca²⁺-dependent secretory and absorptive events seen in the intact sweat gland.

In cultured human eccrine sweat gland cells, intermediate-conductance IK K_{Ca} channels were also identified. Interestingly, estradiol rapidly activated these channels in an estrogen receptor-independent manner. In addition, estradiol was shown to induce the translocation of IK K_{Ca} both to the apical and basolateral cell membranes in a calmodulin-dependent manner. This mechanism was suggested as a new mode of estrogen action in human sweat gland epithelial cells (Muchekehu and Harvey 2009).

4.5.2 Ligand-gated channels

4.5.2.1 nAChRs

It is a common knowledge in physiology that sweating can be induced by efferent neuronal cholinergic stimulation, mediated by the binding of the released ACh to muscarinic mAChRs expressed by the sweat glands. Likewise, sweating can be induced by intradermal injection of cholinomimetic compounds, which can be efficiently prevented by the mAChR antagonist atropine (Longmore et al 1985; Smith et al 1992). However, application of ACh to primary human sweat gland-derived epithelial cells was shown to also induce Ca^{2+} influx which may argue for the existence of functional nAChR channels (Lei et al 2008). Indeed, various nAChR channels (including α 3 and α 7) were described in the ductal and acinar compartments of sweat glands. Moreover, the enzymatic apparatus for the synthesis and degradation of ACh is also expressed by sweat glands (Kurzen et al 2004; Hagforsen 2007). Therefore, further studies are invited to define the relative contribution of nAChRs and mAChRs to sweating induced by neuronal and non-neuronal ACh.

4.5.3 Non-ion selective channels

4.5.3.1 Aquaporins

AQP5 was found to be expressed in secretory cells and ductal parts of sweat glands in humans, rat, and mice (Nejsum et al 2002; Song et al 2002). Using various methods, Song et al concluded that AQP5 deletion in mice did not affect intensity and composition of sweat secretion (Song et al 2002). However, others have shown that genetic depletion of AQP5 in mice greatly decreased the response of sweat glands to pilocarpine, a known inducer a sweat production (Nejsum et al 2002). In light of these data, further studies are needed to unambiguously define the role is AQP5 in human sweat secretion.

AQP7 is also expressed by subcutaneous adipocytes and seems to be involved in cutaneous fat metabolism. Indeed, in AQP7 knockout mice, a progressive adipocyte hypertrophy was observed which effect was most probably due to the reduced AQP7-facilitated plasma membrane glycerol exit from adipocytes (Hara-Chikuma et al 2005; Hibuse et al 2005).

4.6 Skin diseases

So far, we have presented a plethora of evidence about the active contribution of numerous channels in various skin functions. Therefore, it is not surprising at all that multiple channels are reportedly associated with multiple skin conditions (summarized in **Table 2**). However, it should be mentioned that most of the below

data only indirectly link the given channel to the given disease, and that only very few "real", pathogenetic correlations could be identified. Therefore, further studies are invited to explore the causative roles of the identified alterations in the expressions/functions of the channels.

Below, we start by listing the available literature data in relation to the most prevalent "barrier diseases", AD and psoriasis. Then we continue with describing the roles of the channels in various skin tumors and in other dermatoses. Finally, although skin ageing *per se* cannot be considered as a disease, the related, quite exciting findings prompted us to close this section with mentioning the possible involvement of certain channels in the ageing process.

4.6.1 AD

4.6.1.1 Ligand-gated channels

The expression level of ChAT (which is a key enzyme of ACh biosynthesis) was found to be highly elevated in the epidermis (14-fold) and in the upper dermis (3-fold) of AD patients when compared to healthy skin compartments (Wessler et al 2003). Moreover, irregular nAChR subtype expression patterns were described in AD lesions (Curtis and Radek 2012). Likewise, in lesional skin of AD (and psoriasis) patients, intense P2X7 reactivity was confined to the cell membrane of the basal layer, with an additional, diffuse P2Y1 metabotropic purinergic receptor immunostaining throughout the epidermis (Pastore et al 2007). Unfortunately, the pathogenetic roles of these phenomena are not clarified. Also, the human clinical relevance of those intriguing findings (detailed under 4.3.2.3.) that orally administered GABA was beneficial against experimentally induced AD in mice should also be carefully investigated.

4.6.1.2 TRP channels

As we have shown (4.3.3.1. and 4.3.3.2.), TRPV1 and TRPV3 activities promoted the development of AD-like dermatitis in mice. However, further studies are required to define the roles of these (and possibly other) TRP channels in the pathogenesis of human AD.

4.6.1.3 Non-ion selective channels

Elevated AQP3 expression was found in AD skin (Olsson et al 2006; Nakahigashi et al 2011). In addition, CCL17, which is highly expressed in AD, was found to be a strong inducer of AQP3 expression and enhanced keratinocyte proliferation. In a mouse model of AD, the induced epidermal hyperplasia, a characteristic symptom of the disease, was reduced in AQP3-deficient mice, with a decreased number of proliferating keratinocytes (Nakahigashi et al 2011). These results suggest the possible involvement of AQP3 in the development of AD.

It should be mentioned that although altered levels of AQP3 were also described in the closely related epidermal spongiosis associated with eczema (Boury-Jamot et al 2006) and erythema toxicum neonatorum (Marchini et al 2003), the functional role of AQP3 in these diseases is not yet known.

4.6.2 Psoriasis vulgaris

4.6.2.1 Voltage-gated channels

Keratinocytes and skin from psoriatic individuals were found to express higher levels of mRNA encoding the non-functional splice-variant of cyclic guanosine monophosphate-gated (CNG), Ca²⁺-permeable, non-selective cationic channels. Since overexpression of the splice variant by transfection of HEK293 in culture leads to loss of protein expression for the functional CNG channels (McKenzie et al 2003); and, furthermore, since Ca²⁺ influx to human keratinocytes may occur, among others, via CNG channels, these data may suggest the potential role of this CNG isoform shift in psoriasis.

4.6.2.2 Ligand-gated channels

As was shown above, NMDAR-coupled signaling was implicated in the proper growth and differentiation of keratinocytes. In support of this proposal, in parakeratotic skin lesions of psoriasis patients, a significant reduction in the expression of NMDAR1 in the upper epidermis was identified (Fischer et al 2004b). This alteration was suggested to result in a suppressed Ca²⁺ influx to the diseased keratinocytes leading to impaired differentiation and barrier formation, hallmarks of the disease.

As mentioned above, 5-HT3 receptor was localized to basal epidermal keratinocytes in human skin *in situ*. This expression pattern was not altered in skin samples of AD

patients or in non-involved psoriatic skin; however, 5-HT3 receptor was identified in the acrosyringium, but not in basal keratinocytes, in involved psoriatic skin (Lundeberg et al 2002; Nordlind et al 2006). Therefore, it can be hypothesized (and to be investigated in future trials) that epidermal 5-HT3 receptors may contribute to the development of psoriasis.

Expressions of GABA ligand and GABA_A receptor were found to be increased in inflammatory cells located in lesional psoriatic skin when compared to non-lesional skin parts. GABA ligand was mostly expressed in macrophages whereas GABA_A receptor was localized in macrophages, neutrophils and lymphocytes. Moreover, a positive correlation was identified between the inflammatory cell GABA release and GABA_A receptor expression, and the severity of pruritus, a characteristic symptom of the disease (Nigam et al 2010).

4.6.2.3 TRP channels

Decreased expressions of the pro-differentiating TRPC1/4/5/6/7 were reported in the epidermis and isolated keratinocytes of psoriatic patients. In addition, cultured psoriatic keratinocytes exhibited substantial defects in Ca²⁺ influx in response to high extracellular Ca²⁺ levels (Leuner et al 2011), which may be explained by the suppressed TRPC channel expressions.

4.6.2.4 Non-ion selective channels

Elevated levels of AQP9 were described in lesional skin of psoriatic patients (Suárez-Fariñas et al 2011). Likewise, highly upregulated levels of Cx26, which was shown to inhibit epidermal keratinocyte differentiation and hence barrier formation, were identified in human psoriatic plaques and in hyperplastic warts (Lucke et al 1999). Of clinical importance, the highly elevated Cx26 levels in psoriatic lesions were significantly suppressed after treatment of psoriasis with methotrexate and PUVA (Shaker and Abdel-Halim 2012) which suggest the role of Cx26 in the pathogenesis of the disease.

4.6.3 Non-melanoma skin cancers4.6.3.1 Voltage-gated channels

Expression of mRNA of Kv3.4 K⁺ channel was found to be increased in SCC. In addition, inhibition of Kv3.4 suppressed growth of oral SCC cells (Chang et al 2003) which argues for that K⁺ channel activities support malignant cell growth.

4.6.3.2 Ligand-gated channels

Expression of NMDAR1 in cutaneous SCC was found to inversely correlate with the degree of malignancy. Namely, very low (if any) expression was identified in undifferentiated SCC samples (Kang et al 2009) whereas the reactive (non-neoplastic) epithelium surrounding the SCC showed strong NMDAR1 levels (Nahm et al 2004). These data, on the one hand, further support the pro-differentiating role of NMDAR1coupled signaling in keratinocytes; on the other hand, they also argue for that NMDAR1 may be a prognostic indicator for cutaneous SCC.

Human papillomaviruses are recognized as important human tumor promoters in the development of non-melanoma skin cancers (Biliris et al 2000; Greig et al 2006). Interestingly, in human skin warts as well as in raft cultures of CIN 612 cells, a model of keratinocytes infected with human papillomavirus type 31 (Ozbun 2002), up-regulation of the expression of P2X5 receptors was detected. In addition, P2X5 and P2X7 receptors were found in the nuclei of koilocytes, the abnormal keratinocytes characteristic of human papillomavirus infection (Greig et al 2006). Based on these findings, as well as on the expression pattern of P2X receptor in the epidermis, it is therefore proposed that P2X5 receptors are likely to be involved in keratinocyte differentiation and P2X7 receptors are likely to be part of the machinery of end stage terminal differentiation/apoptosis of keratinocytes (Burnstock 2006; Gorodeskin 2009; Burnstock et al 2012). As an additional factor, the promoting role of these receptors in the anti-viral immune response may also be involved (see under 4.3.1.2.).

Indeed, the pro-apoptotic role of P2X7 was also demonstrated in a two-stage (DMBA/TPA) mouse model of skin papilloma and SCC. In this model, the P2X7 specific agonist BzATP inhibited formation of tumors. Moreover, in cultured mouse keratinocytes BzATP induced prolonged Ca²⁺ influx and caspase-9 coupled apoptosis. Importantly, apoptosis was much less efficient in SCC keratinocytes which exhibited 4-5 fold lower levels of P2X7 in cancer tissues. Therefore, activation of P2X7-dependent apoptosis (and possibly of the pro-differentiating P2X5 receptors) in

skin papillomas and cancers as well as in melanomas may represent novel therapeutic tools.

4.6.3.3 TRP channels

In BCC samples, the lack of epidermal expression of the pro-differentiating TRPC1/TRPC4 was observed (Beck et al 2008) which was correlated with the impaired differentiation and enhanced proliferation of tumor cells. In addition, topical treatment with triterpenes of actinic keratosis, an *in situ* form of SCC, promoted cellular differentiation, most probably via the stimulation of TRPC6-mediated Ca²⁺-influx to the cells (Woelfle et al 2010).

In addition, TRPV1 knockout mice were shown to exhibit a highly increased susceptibility to induction of skin carcinogenesis (Bode et al 2009). Since TRPV1 was described to inhibit proliferation and induce apoptosis in keratinocytes (see above under 4.1.3.1.), it is proposed that TRPV1 (just as the above TRPCs) may be protective against skin tumor formation.

4.6.3.4 Non-ion selective channels

Further supporting the promoting role of AQP3 in epidermal proliferation, highly increased levels of AQP3 were identified in human SCC when compared to control skin (Hara-Chikuma and Verkman 2008c). In addition, in a multistage murine carcinogenesis model, AQP3 knockouts were found to be resistant to induction of tumorigenesis, also arguing for the pro-mitogenic role of AQP3 (Hara-Chikuma and Verkman 2008c). As tumor cells generally exhibit an aggressive energy metabolic profile (Gatenby and Gillies 2007), the glycerol transport mediated by AQP3 and the concomitant accumulation of cellular ATP may act as an important determinant of skin tumorigenesis. Hence, inhibition of AQP3 activity may provide a rational basis for the therapy of skin (and possibly other) cancers associated with overexpression of aquaglyceroporins.

4.6.4 Malignant melanoma

4.6.4.1 Voltage-gated channels

The tumor-promoting roles of various K^+ channels are suggested in malignant melanoma. Indeed, on cell cultures of the human melanoma cell line SK MEL 28,

inhibition of the expressed inwardly rectifying (K_{ir}) K^+ channels or K_{Ca} channels inhibited cell-cycle progression (Lepple-Wienhues et al 1996). Likewise, in metastatic human melanoma cell lines, activation of K_{Ca} 3.1 channels was shown to promote the secretion of melanoma inhibitory activity, a soluble melanoma-derived factor which, by interacting with cell adhesion molecules and hence facilitating cell detachment, stimulates the formation of metastases (Schmidt et al 2010).

Based on these results, it is proposed that membrane depolarization following the inhibition of these voltage-gated K^+ channels most probably reduces the driving force for the influx of Ca²⁺, a key messenger in the mitogenic signal cascade of human malignant cells, which eventually results in cell cycle arrest. Therefore, voltage-gated K^+ channel inhibitors may represent novel therapeutic tools in the treatment of malignant melanoma.

Finally, it should be mentioned that silencing of the two-pore K⁺ channel TASK-3, which is predominantly localized in the mitochondria in malignant melanoma cells (Rusznák et al 2008), impaired cellular integrity and viability as well as proliferation of these cells (Kosztka et al 2011).

4.6.4.2 Ligand-gated channels

Cultured melanocytes were shown to express the AMPARs GluA2 and 4 and the NMDAR2A and 2C whose activation by AMPA and NMDA resulted in elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration (Hoogduijn et al 2006). Melanocytes also express specific glutamate transporters and decarboxylases; yet, glutamate production or release was not found. Glutamate treatment of human melanocytes did not affect melanin production and cell survival. However, application of AMPARs and NMDARs inhibitors induced disorganization of actin and tubulin microfilaments. In addition, the AMPA receptor inhibitor CFM-2 markedly suppressed the expression of microphthalmia-associated transcription factor, a key regulator of melanocyte differentiation and proliferation. Therefore, further studies are invited to define the potential role of ionotropic glutamatergic signaling in malignant melanoma.

In addition, increased expression of P2X7 receptors were identified in malignant melanomas (Slater et al 2003) whose stimulation resulted in a Ca²⁺ influx-dependent

induction of apoptosis (Deli et al 2007). Therefore, just as described under 4.6.3.2., P2X7-targeted approaches may be beneficial not only in non-melanoma skin cancers, but also in malignant melanomas.

4.6.4.3 TRP channels

Human epidermal melanocytes also express TRPM1 whose level was shown to correlate with melanin content of the cells indicating that functional TRPM1 channels are critical for normal melanocyte pigmentation (Devi et al 2009; Oancea et al 2009). Indeed, decreased expression of the *trpm1* gene was found to be associated with the coat spotting patterns of the Appaloosa horse (*Equus caballus*) (Bellone et al 2008). In part similar to these findings, two mutations in the gene encoding TRPML3 were found to be correlated with the diluted coat color of the varitint-waddler mouse (Di Palma et al 2002; Cuajungco and Samie 2008).

Certain TRPM channels also seem to be involved in the development of cutaneous melanoma. Namely, expression of the *trpm1* gene, which encodes the pro-apoptotic TRPM1, was found to exhibit an inverse correlation of with the in vivo metastatic potential of skin melanoma (Deeds et al 2000; Duncan et al 2001; Miller et al 2004; Zhiqi et al 2004; Lu et al 2010). Therefore, down-regulation of TRPM1 in the tumor was proposed as a prognostic marker for metastasis (Deeds et al 2000; Duncan et al 2001; Miller et al 2001; Zhiqi et al 2004). Likewise, upregulation of antisense, tumorenriched (TE) transcripts of TRPM2 (another growth-inhibitory TRPM channel) was identified in human cutaneous melanoma (Orfanelli et al 2008). Accordingly, functional knockout of TRPM2-TE or overexpression of wild-type TRPM2 in melanoma-derived cells augmented susceptibility to apoptosis (Orfanelli et al 2008). Interestingly, an increased (and not decreased) level of TRPM8-specific transcripts, were also demonstrated in malignant melanoma (Tsavaler et al 2001). Since activation of TRPM8 in human cultured melanoma cells induced Ca²⁺-dependent cell death (Slominski 2008; Yamamura et al 2008a), the functional significance of these findings are not currently understood.

4.6.4.4 Non-ion selective channels

Panx1 expression, which was found to be low in normal mouse melanocytes, increased in tandem with tumor cell aggressiveness in mouse malignant melanoma

cell lines (Penuela et al 2012b). In addition, gene silencing of Panx1 in BL6 mouse melanoma cell lines resulted in a marked suppression of *in vitro* cellular growth and migration and the down-regulation of the malignant melanoma markers vimentin and β -catenin. Likewise, the growth rate and metastasis-forming capacity of Panx1 knock-down cells also significantly decreased in a xenograft model (Penuela et al 2012b). Although we lack human data, these findings collectively argue for the putative pathogenetic role of Panx1 (at least in murine) melanoma. In addition, these results also raise the possibility of a future management of the malignancy by inhibiting and/or down-regulating Panx1.

AQP1 channels are also expressed on human cultured melanocytes; however, their role in melanogenesis and melanocyte/melanoma growth is not known (Boury-Jamot et al 2006). In addition, the elevated expressions of pro-proliferating Cx26 and Cx30 (but not of the pro-differentiating Cx43) were identified in the epidermal tumor microenvironment of malignant melanoma which correlated to the degree of malignancy (Haass et al 2010).

4.6.5 Other skin diseases

4.6.5.1 Olmsted syndrome

As we have shown above (under 4.2.3.2. and 4.3.3.2.), a gain-of-function (Gly573Ser) mutation of the *trpv3* gene resulted in a spontaneous hairless phenotype and the development of AD-like itchy dermatitis in mice. Of greatest importance, most recently, similar gain-of-function mutations of *trpv3* were identified in Olmsted syndrome, a rare congenital disorder characterized by palmoplantar and periorificial keratoderma, alopecia, and severe itching (Lin et al 2012). In heterologous systems, mutant TRPV3 channels conveyed increased membrane currents and mediated augmented apoptosis which was also detected in the epidermis of the diseased patients. Therefore, Olmsted syndrome can be regarded as the first "truly cutaneous TRPpathy".

4.6.5.2 Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome

Smith–Lemli–Opitz syndrome (SLOS) is an inherited disorder of cholesterol synthesis caused by mutations of the *dhcr*7 gene which encodes the final enzyme in the cholesterol synthesis pathway (Tint et al 1994). In this disease, 7-dehydrocholesterol

accumulates in various cells and impairs key cells functions including those of skin fibroblasts (Honda et al 1997; Wassif et al 2002). In membrane caveolae of dermal fibroblasts of SLOS patients, impaired activity and markedly suppressed protein levels of BK K_{Ca} channel were observed (Ren et al 2011). Since BK K_{Ca} channels were shown to co-migrate with caveolin-1, a key component of lipid rafts and hence regulator of a multitude of cell membrane-localized proteins (channels, receptors, transporters, etc.) and their signaling (Rothberg et al 1992; Simons and Ikonen 1997; Ren et al 2011), alterations in BK K_{Ca} channel functions may contribute to the pathophysiology of SLOS.

4.6.5.3 Pemphigus vulgaris

Pemphigus vulgaris (PV) is a severe autoimmune blistering disease. In the pathogenesis of the dermatosis, the role of autoantibodies targeting (and then destroying) desmoglein-3, a key cell adhesion molecule of the epidermis, are suggested (Amagai and Stanley 2012). Intriguingly, α 9 nAChRs were also found to be targeted by PV. Of further importance, inhibition of α 9 nAChRs activity in keratinocyte cultures resulted in the development of PV-like morphology (acantholysis) which findings, besides further supporting the role of the ion channel in keratinocytes adhesion processes (see above under 4.1.2.1), argue for a potential pathogenetic role of α 9 nAChRs in PV (Nguyen et al 2000).

4.6.5.4 Mal de Meleda

Mal de Meleda is an autosomal recessive inflammatory and keratotic palmoplantar skin disorder due to mutations in the gene encoding SLURP-1 (secreted mammalian Ly-6/uPAR-related protein 1) (Fischer et al 2001). Interestingly, SLURP-1 was shown to potentiate the effect of ACh on α 7 nAChR channels (Chimienti et al 2003; Chernyavsky et al 2012). Since, as was detailed above, α 7 nAChR receptors play multiple roles in skin function, the authors hypothesized that the lack of this potentiation by SLURP-1 downregulation may contribute to the development of the characteristic skin symptoms of the disease.

4.6.5.5 Darier's disease

TRPC1 is overexpressed in keratinocytes of patients with Darier's disease (DD) (or keratosis follicularis), a genetic disorder with loss-of-function mutations in the

SERCA2b gene encoding endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-pumps, which is characterized by abnormal keratinization of the epidermis (Barfield et al 2002; Pani et al 2006). Importantly, cultured DD keratinocytes exhibited a greatly enhanced TRPC1-mediated (store-operated) Ca²⁺ influx, proliferation, and apoptosis resistance suggesting that TRPC1 may be involved in the pathological differentiation program (Pani et al 2006).

4.6.5.6 Prurigo nodularis

Markedly elevated TRPV1 levels were detected in the highly hyperkeratotic lesions of skin samples of prurigo nodularis patients (Stander et al 2004). Furthermore, chronic (for several months) topical capsaicin treatment of the prurigo lesions (and hence the prolonged activation of the apoptosis-promoting TRPV1 expressed on keratinocytes) not only mitigated the intense pruritus, but also markedly reduced the epidermal hyperplasia and the hyper-orthokeratosis of the skin (Stander et al 2001).

4.6.5.7 Diseases of the adnexal structures

 K_{Ca} channels on normal sweat gland-derived cells exhibited similar functional properties to those expressed by cells from patients with cystic fibrosis (Henderson and Cuthbert 1991a), a common genetic disease characterized by, among others, defective sweat gland functions (Quinton 2007). However, eccrine sweat gland cells from these patients additionally expressed Ca²⁺-independent, small-conductance, outwardly rectifying K⁺ channels which were practically absent on cells from healthy donors (Henderson and Cuthbert 1991b). The impact of these findings is not yet known.

Although expressions of a huge variety of nAChR subunits were described in various compartments of the HF and sebaceous glands (summarized in Kurzen 2004; Kurzen et al 2004; Kurzen and Schallreuter 2004; Grando et al 2006; Kurzen et al 2007), the functional role of these channels in pilosebaceous unit biology is not revealed. Likewise, it is also unknown whether ACh and the cutaneous cholinergic system is involved in mediating the effect of smoking to significantly increase the prevalence and disease severity of acne vulgaris (Schäfer et al 2001).

However, with respect to the pathology of the pilosebaceous unit and the relationship with smoking, intriguing observations were made during the assessment of skin samples of hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) patients. Clinically, HS (a.k.a. acne inversa) is a chronic inflammatory skin disease emerging from the pilosebaceous units of the intertriginous areas (e.g. underarms, thighs, groin). Importantly, HS is considered as a nicotine-dependent dermatosis as more than 80% of patients are active smokers (Jansen et al 2001). In organotypic epidermal culture system, chronic nicotine exposure (12 days) resulted in epidermal thickening which was very similar to the hyperplastic epidermis, especially in the follicular infundibulum. These results propose that the cutaneous cholinergic system, most probably by promoting infundibular epithelial hyperplasia and thus follicular occlusion, may have a pathogenetic role in HS (Hana et al 2007).

Another smoking-associated inflammatory skin disease, which is related to adnexal skin structures, is palmoplantar pustulosis (PPP) characterized by pustules, erythema and scaling on the soles and palms. Apparently, sweat glands are involved in the pathogenesis of PPP (impaired structure of the acrosyringium, outward migration of granulocytes from the acrosyringium to the str. corneum to form pustules). Importantly, in involved PPP skin, significant expressions of ChAT and α 3 nAChRs were observed in the infiltrating granulocytes indicating a role for ACh in inflammation. Moreover, irregular expression patterns of α 3 and α 7 nAChRs were found throughout the epidermis. Currently, the exact mechanisms for the effect of nicotine/smoking in PPP is still unknown; yet, it is noteworthy that cessation of smoking improved all skin symptoms characteristics for PPP (Hangforsen 2007).

Finally, it might be of clinical importance that decreased AQP5 levels were detected in the secretory part of eccrine sweat glands of patients with Sjögren's syndrome, but not in skin affected by idiopathic segmental anhidrosis or idiopathic pure sudomotor failure (lizuka et al 2012).

4.6.5.8 Chronic venous insufficiency

The expression patterns of P2X5 and P2X7 receptors were found to be altered in the epidermis of patients with chronic venous insufficiency (CVI). In CVI, elevated P2X5

receptor levels were found mainly in the spinosal layer and extending further into the str. granulosum whereas expressions of P2X7 receptors were reduced in the str. corneum. It is proposed that the above alterations may contribute to the appearance of the thinner epidermis seen in CVI (Metcalfe et al 2006).

4.6.5.9 "Connexin diseases"

Further supporting its potential role in epidermal biology, Cx26 mutations were found to be associated with numerous hyperkeratotic skin disorders (palmoplantar keratoderma, keratitis-ichthyosis deafness syndrome, Vohwinkel syndrome, hystrixichthyosis deafness syndrome, and Bart-Pumphrey syndrome) which are characterized by pathologically altered epidermal growth and differentiation (reviewed in Lee and White 2009).

4.6.6 Skin ageing

As we have presented above (4.3.3.1), TRPV1 was shown to mediate the effect of UV exposure and heat to induce skin inflammation and to upregulate MMP-1. Since chronic UV exposure is suggested to promote skin ageing, the role of TRPV1 in these processes is suggested. Indeed, applications of both heat and UV elevated expression of TRPV1 proteins in human skin *in vivo*. Moreover, as further support for its pro-ageing role, increased TRPV1 levels were found both in photoaged and intrinsically aged skin samples when compared to the expressions of the channel found in skins obtained from sunprotected areas and from young individuals, respectively (Lee et al 2009a ; Lee et al 2012).

Interestingly, AQP3 expression was lower in aged than in young skin (Li et al 2010), which is one of the key factors resulting in lower epidermal/skin water content and dry skin conditions seen in the elderly. Furthermore, UVB irradiation of NHEKs upregulated the expression of the pro-apoptotic P2X7 receptors (Inoue et al 2005), which may lead to premature cell death.

Of further importance, comparison of dermal fibroblasts obtained from young, elderly and centenarian donors revealed age-dependent changes in K^+ channel expression and function. K^+ current amplitude was significantly smaller in fibroblasts from elderly than from young donors. In addition, expression of voltage-gated (K_v) shaker K_v 1.1

channels was found to be higher in fibroblasts of elderly and centenarians whereas the BK K_{Ca} channel β 1 subunit showed lower expression levels in fibroblasts of centenarians. It is possible, therefore, that the age-related remodeling of dermal fibroblast K⁺ channel subtypes in centenarians might be associated with "successful" aging and hence provide a "predictive marker of longevity" (Zironi et al 2010).

Finally, it should be noted that chronic nicotine exposure of cultured human dermal fibroblasts markedly altered the expression patterns of α 3, α 5, α 7, β 2, and β 4 nAChR subunits (Arredondo et al 2003). Therefore, it can also be postulated that premature ageing of the skin and impaired wound healing seen in chronic smokers may be related to pathological alterations of the fibroblast cholinergic system.

5 Concluding remarks

In this paper, we have attempted to review the roles of ion and non-ion selective channels on non-neuronal cell types of the skin. Moreover, we have detailed recent evidence suggesting the involvement of certain channels in various skin diseases.

The major messages of this review are the followings:

- A plethora of ion and non-ion selective channels are expressed by various non-neuronal cell populations of the skin.
- On these cells, numerous channels, their endogenous activators/inhibitors, and their related signaling mechanisms were shown to play central roles in such key cutaneous processes as e.g. cellular growth, differentiation, and survival; formation, maintenance, and regeneration of the epidermal physicalchemical barrier; wound healing; inflammatory and immune responses, exocrine functions, etc.
- In addition, certain channels expressed by epidermal keratinocytes also contribute to the sensory functions of the skin (e.g. thermo-, osmo-, and pH sensation), via the release of soluble intercellular mediators which stimulate cutaneous sensory afferents.
- It is important to note, that the involved channels may exert both synergistic as well as antagonistic effects in the regulation of the above processes. This is especially remarkable during the recovery of the epidermal barrier following its disruption.
- Finally, pathological alterations in the homeostatic channel-coupled mechanisms are implicated in various dermatoses (e.g. AD, psoriasis, skin cancers, autoimmune and genetic diseases, etc.) and in skin ageing.

Evidently, more extensive *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies are urgently needed to reveal the exact molecular roles of these channels in skin physiology and pathophysiology. Yet, we strongly believe that the presented intriguing findings will encourage future, highly sophisticated pre-clinical and clinical trials to explore the seemingly rich potential of channel-targeted management of various skin diseases.

6 Acknowledgement

This work was supported by Hungarian (LP2011-003/2011, TÁMOP 4.2.1./B-09/1/KONV-2010-0007, TÁMOP 4.2.2.A-11/1/KONV-2012-0025, OTKA 78398 and 101761) and EU (FP7-REGPOT-2008-1/229920) research grants.

7 Figures and legends

Figure 1. Key functions of the skin

The multiple homeostatic functions of the skin can be classified into the groups of barrier, neuroendocrine, and other functions. For further details, see text under 2.2.

Figure 2. Key components of the complex skin barrier

The highly complex skin barrier provides multiple levels of protection for the organism. These include the physical-chemical barrier, the (micro)biological barrier, and the immunological barrier as well as the life-long regeneration of these components. For further details, see text under 2.2.1.

Figure 3. The complex "channel" regulation of the epidermal barrier recovery

Numerous channels play central, yet partly antagonistic, roles in the regulation of the recovery processes following the mechanical disruption of the epidermal barrier. Therefore, targeted modulations of channel activities represent exciting novel future therapeutic possibilities. For further details, see text under 4.1.

8 Tables

Channels	Putative function(s)	Reference(s)
Ca_v channels	Promotion of keratinocyte differentiation; delay of barrier recovery	Denda et al 2003b; Denda et al 2006
nAChRs	Promotion of keratinocyte differentiation and wound healing; delay of barrier recovery	Grando et al 1996; Arredondo et al 2003; Denda et al 2003a; Kurzen et al 2005; Chernyavskyet al 2007; Kurzen et al 2007; Radek et al 2010; Curtis and Radek 2012
P2X7	Promotion of keratinocyte differentiation and antitumor effects	Slater et al 2003; Inoue et al 2005; Deli et al 2007
NMDAR	Promotion of keratinocyte differentiation, delay of barrier recovery	Denda et al 2003a; Fuziwara et al 2003; Fischer et al 2004a; Fischer et al 2004b
GABA _A	Promotion of barrier recovery and wound healing	Denda et al 2002b; Denda et al 2003a; Han et al 2007; Ito et al 2007
Glycine receptor	Promotion of barrier recovery	Denda et al 2003a
TRPV1	Delay of barrier recovery and wound healing	Bodó et al 2005; Bíró et al 2006; Denda et al 2007b; Tóth et al 2011a; Yun et al 2011
	Antitumor effects	Bode et al 2009
TRPV3	Promotion of barrier recovery and wound healing	Denda et al 2007b; Cheng et al 2010; Miyamoto et al 2011
TRPV4	Promotion of barrier recovery	Denda et al 2007b; Kida et al 2011; Sokabe et al 2010; Sokabe and Tominaga 2010
TRPA1	Promotion of barrier recovery	Denda et al 2010b
TRPC1, 4, 5, 6, and 7	Promotion of keratinocyte differentiation and possible antitumor effects	Cai et al 2006; Beck et al 2008; Muller et al 2008; Woelfle et al 2010; Shanmugam et al 2012
TRPM1, 2 and 8	Antitumor effects	Deeds et al 2000; Duncan et al 2001; Miller et al 2004; Zhiqi et al 2004; Orfanelli et al 2008; Slominski 2008; Yamamura et al 2008a; Lu et al 2010
AQP3	Promotion of barrier recovery	Hara et al 2002; Hara and Verkman 2003

Table 1. Highly selected skin-related functions of certain designated channels

Table 2. Putative roles of key channels in the pathogenesis of selected human skin diseases and skin-related processes

Diseases or skin- related conditions	Putative pathomechanism(s) and Related channel(s)	Reference(s)
Psoriasis	Chronic use of Ca _v channels is associated with the disease	Cohen et al 2001
	Upregulation of non-functional CNG channels	McKenzie et al 2003
	Altered expression profile of 5-HT3	Lundeberg et al 2002; Nordlind et al 2006
	Downregulation of NMDAR1	Fischer et al 2004b
	Upregulation of GABA ligand and GABA _A receptor	Nigam et al 2010
	Downregulation of TRPC1, 4, 5, 6, and 7 and the coupled Ca ²⁺ -influx	Leuner et al 2011
	Upregulation of AQP9	Suárez-Fariñas et al 2011
	Upregulation of Cx26 which can be suppressed by anti-psoriasis therapy	Lucke et al 1999; Shaker and Abdel-Halim 2012
	Irregular nAChR expression pattern	Curtis and Radek 2012
	Altered P2X7 expression profile	Pastore et al 2007
	Irregular nAChR subtype expression pattern	Curtis and Radek 2012
	Downregulation of NMDAR1	Kang et al 2009
Atopic dermatitis	Decreased GABA-ergic signaling	Hokazono et al 2010
	Activation of TRPV1 and 3 results in AD- like syndromes in mice	Asakawa et al 2006; Xiao et al 2008; Yun et al 2011
	Upregulation of AQP3	Olsson et al 2006; Nakahigashi et al 2011
Non-melanoma skin cancers	Upregulation of K _v 3.4; inhibition of K _v 3.4 suppressed tumor cell growth	Chang et al 2003
	NMDAR1 expression inversely correlates with the degree of malignancy	Nahm et al 2004; Kang et al 2009
	Downregulation of P2X7-coupled signaling; altered P2X receptor expression pattern	Burnstock 2006;Greig et al 2006; Gorodeskin 2009; Burnstock et al 2012
	Decreased TRPV1 and TRPC6-coupled signaling; TRPV1-KO mice exhibit increased tumorigenesis	Bode et al 2009; Woelfle et al 2010
	Downregulation of TRPC1 and 4	Beck et al 2008
	Upregulation of AQP3; AQP3-KO mice exhibit decreased tumorigenesis	Hara-Chikuma and Verkman 2008c
Malignant melanoma	Increased activity of K _{Ca} 3.1, K _{ir} and TASK-3	Lepple-Wienhues et al 1996; Schmidt et al 2010; Kosztka et al 2011
	Upregulation of P2X7	Slater et al 2003
	TRPM1 expression inversely correlates with the degree of metastatic potential; Upregulation of antisense TRPM2; Downregulation of TRPM8; Activation of TRPM8 inhibit tumor cell growth	Deeds et al 2000; Duncan et al 2001; Tsavaler et al 2001; Miller et al 2004; Zhiqi et al 2004; Orfanelli et al 2008; Lu et al 2010

	Upregulation of Panx1 in mouse melanoma; Silencing of Panx1 inhibits tumor growth	Penuela et al 2012
Olmsted syndrome	The main pathogenetic cause is the gain- of-function mutation of TRPV3	Lin et al 2012
Skin ageing	Altered K ⁺ -channel expression profile (fibroblasts)	Zironi et al 2010
	Altered nAChR expression profile (fibroblasts)	Arredondo et al 2003
	Upregulation of P2X7 (keratinocytes)	Inoue et al 2005
	Upregulation of TRPV1 and the coupled	Lee et al 2009a ; Lee et
	signaling (keratinocytes)	al 2012
	Downregulation of AQP3 (keratinocytes)	Li et al 2010

9 References

- Amagai M, Stanley JR (2012) Desmoglein as a target in skin disease and beyond. J Invest Dermatol 132:776-784
- Amantini C, Mosca M, Lucciarini R et al (2004) Distinct thymocyte subsets express the vanilloid receptor VR1 that mediates capsaicin-induced apoptotic cell death. Cell Death Differ 11:1342-1356
- Ambrus L, Tóth BI, Oláh A et al (2011) Heat sensitive transient receptor potential vanilloid (TRPV) channels in the control of human SZ95 sebocytes Potential role of TRPV3. J Invest Dermatol 131 suppl. S60
- Andersen HK, Urbach V, Van Kerkhove E, et al (1995) Maxi K+ channels in the basolateral membrane of the exocrine frog skin gland regulated by intracellular calcium and pH. Pflugers Arch 431:52–65
- Ansel JC, Armstrong CA, Song I et al (1997) Interactions of the skin and nervous system. J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc 2:23-26
- Arck PC, Slominski A, Theoharides TC et al (2006) Neuroimmunology of stress: skin takes center stage. J Invest Dermatol 126:1697-1704
- Arredondo J, Nguyen VT, Chernyavsky AI et al (2002) Central role of α7 nicotinic receptor in differentiation of the stratified squamous epithelium. J Cell Biol 159:325–336
- Arredondo J, Hall LL, Ndoye A et al (2003) Central role of fibroblast alpha3 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in mediating cutaneous effects of nicotine. Lab Invest 83:207–225
- Arwert EN, Hoste E, Watt FM (2012) Epithelial stem cells, wound healing and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 12(3):170-180
- Asakawa M, Yoshioka T, Matsutani T et al (2006) Association of a mutation in TRPV3 with defective hair growth in rodents. J Invest Dermatol 126:2664-2672
- Atoyan R, Shander D, Botchkareva NV (2009) Non-neuronal expression of transient receptor potential type A1 (TRPA1) in human skin. J Invest Dermatol 129:2312-2315
- Bandell M, Story GM, Hwang SW et al (2004) Noxious cold ion channel TRPA1 is activated by pungent compounds and bradykinin. Neuron 41:849-857
- Baranova A, Ivanov D, Petrash N et al (2004) The mammalian pannexin family is homologous to the invertebrate innexin gap junction proteins. Genomics 83:706–716
- Bardan A, Nizet V, Gallo RL (2004) Antimicrobial peptides and the skin. Expert Opin Biol Ther 4(4):543-549

- Barfield RL, Barrett KR, Moon CM et al (2002) Pruritic linear papules on a 75-yearold woman: a case of localized Darier-White disease. Cutis 70:225-228
- Basu S, Srivastava P (2005) Immunological role of neuronal receptor vanilloid receptor 1 expressed on dendritic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:5120-5125
- Bautista DM, Siemens J, Glazer JM et al (2007) The menthol receptor TRPM8 is the principal detector of environmental cold. Nature 448:204-208
- Beck B, Lehen'kyi V, Roudbaraki M et al (2008) TRPC channels determine human keratinocyte differentiation: new insight into basal cell carcinoma. Cell Calcium 43:492-505
- Bellone RR, Brooks SA, Sandmeyer L et al (2008) Differential gene expression of TRPM1, the potential cause of congenital stationary night blindness and coat spotting patterns (LP) in the Appaloosa horse (Equus caballus). Genetics 179:1861-1870
- Benham CD, Gunthorpe MJ, Davis JB (2003) TRPV channels as temperature sensors. Cell Calcium 33:479-487
- Bezzerides VJ, Ramsey IS, Kotecha S et al (2004) Rapid vesicular translocation and insertion of TRP channels. Nat Cell Biol 6:709-720
- Bianco SD, Peng JB, Takanaga H et al (2007) Marked disturbance of calcium homeostasis in mice with targeted disruption of the Trpv6 calcium channel gene. J Bone Miner Res 22:274-285
- Biel M, Hofmann F, Kaupp UB (2012) Cyclic nucleotide-regulated channels. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyMenuForward?familyId=71</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.
- Biliris KA, Koumantakis E, Dokianakis DN et al (2000) Sourvinos G, Spandidos DA. Human papillomavirus infection of non-melanoma skin cancers in immunocompetent hosts. Cancer Lett 161:83-88
- Birder LA, Kanai AJ, de Groat WC et al (2001) Vanilloid receptor expression suggests a sensory role for urinary bladder epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:13396-13401
- Bíró T, Brodie C, Modarres S et al (1998a) Specific vanilloid responses in C6 rat glioma cells. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 56:89-98
- Bíró T, Maurer M, Modarres S et al (1998b) Characterization of functional vanilloid receptors expressed by mast cells. Blood 91:1332-1340
- Bíró T, Bodó E, Telek A et al (2006) Hair cycle control by vanilloid receptor-1 (TRPV1): evidence from TRPV1 knockout mice. J Invest Dermatol 126:1909-1912
- Bíró T, Tóth BI, Marincsák R et al (2007) TRP channels as novel players in the pathogenesis and therapy of itch. Biochim Biophys Acta 1772:1004-1021

- Bíró T, Kovács L (2009) An "ice-cold" TR(i)P to skin biology: the role of TRPA1 in human epidermal keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 129:2096-2099
- Bode AM, Cho YY, Zheng D et al (2009) Transient receptor potential type vanilloid 1 suppresses skin carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 69:905-913
- Bodó E, Kovács I, Telek A et al (2004) Vanilloid receptor-1 (VR1) is widely expressed on various epithelial and mesenchymal cell types of human skin. J Invest Dermatol 123:410-413
- Bodó E, Bíró T, Telek A et al (2005) A hot new twist to hair biology: involvement of vanilloid receptor-1 (VR1/TRPV1) signaling in human hair growth control. Am J Pathol 166:985-998
- Bodó E, Kany B, Gáspár E et al (2010) Thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), a novel, locally produced modulator of human epidermal functions, is regulated by thyrotropin releasing hormone and thyroid hormones. Endocrinology 151(4):1633-1642
- Boguniewicz M, Leung DYM (2011) Atopic dermatitis: a disease of altered skin barrier and immune dysregulation. Immunol Rev 242:233–246
- Borbíró I, Lisztes E, Tóth BI et al (2011) Activation of transient receptor potential vanilloid-3 inhibits human hair growth. J Invest Dermatol 131:1605-1614
- Bos JD, Kapsenberg ML (1993) The skin immune system: progress in cutaneous biology. Immunol Today 14(2):75-8
- Bouillon R, Verstuyf A, Mathieu C et al (2006) Vitamin D resistance. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 20:627-645
- Boury-Jamot M, Sougrat R, Tailhardat M et al (2006) Expression and function of aquaporins in human skin: Is aquaporin-3 just a glycerol transporter? Biochim Biophys Acta 1758:1034–1042
- Bradding P, Okayama Y, Kambe N et al (2003) Ion channel gene expression in human lung, skin, and cord blood-derived mast cells. J Leukoc Biol 73:614–620
- Braff MH, Gallo RL (2006) Antimicrobial peptides: an essential component of the skin defensive barrier. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 306:91-110
- Brandner JM, Houdek P, Hüsing B et al (2004) Connexins 26, 30, and 43: differences among spontaneous, chronic, and accelerated human wound healing. J Invest Dermatol 122:1310–1320
- Bukowsky LF (2010) Skin anatomy and physiology reserach development, 1st edn. NOVA Biomedical Publications, Hauppauge
- Burnstock G (2006) Purinergic signalling. Br J Pharmacol 147(Suppl 1):S172-181
- Burnstock G, Knight GE, Greig AVH (2012) Purinergic signaling in healthy and diseased skin. J Invest Dermatol 132:526-546

- Cai S, Fatherazi S, Presland RB et al (2005) TRPC channel expression during calcium-induced differentiation of human gingival keratinocytes. J Dermatol Sci 40:21-28
- Cai S, Fatherazi S, Presland RB et al (2006) Evidence that TRPC1 contributes to calcium-induced differentiation of human keratinocytes. Pflugers Arch 452:43-52
- Canellakis ZN, Milstone LM, Marsh LL et al (1983) GABA from putrescine is bound in macromolecular form in keratinocytes. Life Sci 33:599–603
- Caterina MJ, Schumacher MA, Tominaga M et al (1997) The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. Nature 389:816-824
- Caterina MJ, Leffler A, Malmberg AB et al (2000) Impaired nociception and pain sensation in mice lacking the capsaicin receptor. Science 288:306-313
- Caterina MJ, Julius D (2001) The vanilloid receptor: a molecular gateway to the pain pathway. Annu Rev Neurosci 24:487-517
- Catterall WA, Goldin AL, Waxman SG (2012a) Voltage-gated sodium channels. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyMenuForward?familyId=82</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.
- Catterall WA, Perez-Reyes E, Snutch TP et al (2012b) Voltage-gated calcium channels. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyMenuForward?familyId=80</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.
- Celetti SJ, Cowan KN, Penuela S et al (2010) Implications of pannexin 1 and pannexin 3 for keratinocyte differentiation. J Cell Sci 123:1363–1372
- Chang KW, Yuan TC, Fang KP et al (2003) The increase of voltage-gated potassium channel Kv3.4 mRNA expression in oral squamous cell carcinoma. J Oral Pathol Med 32:606-611
- Cheng X, Jin J, Hu L et al (2010) TRP channel regulates EGFR signaling in hair morphogenesis and skin barrier formation. Cell 141:331-343
- Chernyavsky AI, Arredondo J, Marubio LM et al (2004) Differential regulation of keratinocyte chemokinesis and chemotaxis through distinct nicotinic receptor subtypes. J Cell Sci 117:5665–5679
- Chernyavsky AI, Arredondo J, Karlsson E et al (2005) The Ras/Raf-1/MEK1/ERK signaling pathway coupled to integrin expression mediates cholinergic regulation of keratinocyte directional migration. J Biol Chem 280:39220–39228
- Chernyavsky AI, Arredondo J, Vetter DE et al (2007) Central role of alpha9 acetylcholine receptor in coordinating keratinocyte adhesion and motility at the initiation of epithelialization. Exp Cell Res 313(16):3542-3555

- Chernyavsky AI, Kalantari-Dehaghi M, Phillips C et al (2012) Novel cholinergic peptides SLURP-1 and -2 regulate epithelialization of cutaneous and oral wounds. Wound Repair Regen 20(1):103-113
- Chimienti F, Hogg RC, Plantard L et al (2003) Identification of SLURP-1 as an epidermal neuromodulator explains the clinical phenotype of Mal de Meleda. Hum Mol Genet 12:3017–3024
- Chung MK, Lee H, Caterina MJ (2003) Warm temperatures activate TRPV4 in mouse 308 keratinocytes. J Biol Chem 278:32037-32046
- Chung MK, Lee H, Mizuno A et al (2004) TRPV3 and TRPV4 mediate warmthevoked currents in primary mouse keratinocytes. J Biol Chem 279:21569-21575

Clapham DE (2003) TRP channels as cellular sensors. Nature 426:517-524

Clapham DE, Nilius B, Owsianik G (2012) Transient Receptor Potential channels. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyMenuForward?familyId=78</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.

- Cogen AL, Nizet V, Gallo RL (2008) Skin microbiota: a source of disease or defence? Br J Dermatol 158(3):442-455
- Cohen AD, Kagen M, Friger M et al (2001) Calcium channel blockers intake and psoriasis: a case-control study. Acta Derm Venereol 81:347–349
- Colburn RW, Lubin ML, Stone DJ Jr et al (2007) Attenuated cold sensitivity in TRPM8 null mice. Neuron 54:379-386
- Cuajungco MP, Samie MA (2008) The varitint-waddler mouse phenotypes and the TRPML3 ion channel mutation: cause and consequence. Pflugers Arch 457:463-473
- Curtis BJ, Radek KA (2012) Cholinergic regulation of keratinocyte innate immunity and permeability barrier integrity: new perspectives in epidermal immunity and disease. J Invest Dermatol 132(1):28-42

Damann N, Voets T, Nilius B. (2008) TRPs in our senses. Curr Biol 18(18):R880-889

- de la Rosa AD, Canessa CM, Fyfe GK et al (2000) Structure and regulation of amiloride-sensitive sodium channels. Annu Rev Physiol 62:573–594
- Deeds J, Cronin F, Duncan LM (2000) Patterns of melastatin mRNA expression in melanocytic tumors. Hum Pathol 31:1346-1356
- Delany NS, Hurle M, Facer P et al (2001) Identification and characterization of a novel human vanilloid receptor-like protein, VRL-2. Physiol Genomics 4:165-174
- Deli T, Varga N, Adám A et al (2007) Functional genomics of calcium channels in human melanoma cells. Int J Cancer 121(1):55-65
- Denda M, Fuziwara S, Inoue K et al (2001) Immunoreactivity of VR1 on epidermal keratinocyte of human skin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 285:1250-1252
- Denda M, Inoue K, Fuziwara S et al (2002a) P2X purinergic receptor antagonist accelerates skin barrier repair and prevents epidermal hyperplasia induced by skin barrier disruption. J Invest Dermatol 119:1034–1040
- Denda M, Inoue K, Inomata S et al (2002b) gamma-Aminobutyric acid (A) receptor agonists accelerate cutaneous barrier recovery and prevent epidermal hyperplasia induced by barrier disruption. J Invest Dermatol 119:1041–1047
- Denda M, Fuziwara S, Inoue K (2003a) Influx of calcium and chloride ions into epidermal keratinocytes regulates exocytosis of epidermal lamellar bodies and skin permeability barrier homeostasis. J Invest Dermatol 121:362–367
- Denda M, Fuziwara S, Inoue K. (2003b) Beta-2-adrenergic receptor antagonist accelerates skin barrier recovery and reduces epidermal hyperplasia induced by barrier disruption. J Invest Dermatol 121:142–148
- Denda M, Fujiwara S, Hibino T (2006) Expression of voltage-gated calcium channel subunit α_{1C} in epidermal keratinocytes and effects of agonist and antagonists of the channel on skin barrier homeostasis. Exp Dermatol 15:455–460
- Denda M, Nakatani M, Ikeyama K et al (2007a) Epidermal keratinocytes as the forefront of the sensory system. Exp Dermatol 16(3):157-161.
- Denda M, Sokabe T, Fukumi-Tominaga T et al (2007b) Effects of skin surface temperature on epidermal permeability barrier homeostasis. J Invest Dermatol 127:654-659
- Denda M, Tsutsumi M, Denda S (2010a) Topical application of TRPM8 agonists accelerates skin permeability barrier recovery and reduces epidermal proliferation induced by barrier insult: role of cold-sensitive TRP receptors in epidermal permeability barrier homoeostasis. Exp Dermatol 19:791-795
- Denda M, Tsutsumi M, Goto M et al (2010b) Topical application of TRPA1 agonists and brief cold exposure accelerate skin permeability barrier recovery. J Invest Dermatol 130:1942-1945
- Denda M, Tsutsumi M. (2011) Roles of transient receptor potential proteins (TRPs) in epidermal keratinocytes. Adv Exp Med Biol 704:847-860
- Devi S, Kedlaya R, Maddodi N et al (2009) Calcium homeostasis in human melanocytes: role of transient receptor potential melastatin 1 (TRPM1) and its regulation by ultraviolet light. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 297(3):C679–687
- Dhaka A, Viswanath V, Patapoutian A (2006) Trp ion channels and temperature sensation. Annu Rev Neurosci 29:135-161
- Di Palma F, Belyantseva IA, Kim HJ et al (2002) Mutations in Mcoln3 associated with deafness and pigmentation defects in varitint-waddler (Va) mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:14994-14999

- Djalilian AR, McGaughey D, Patel S et al (2006) Connexin 26 regulates epidermal barrier and wound remodeling and promotes psoriasiform response. J Clin Invest 116:1243–1253
- Draelos Z, Pugliese PT (2011) Physiology of the Skin. 3rd edn. Allured Business Media, Carol Stream
- Duncan LM, Deeds J, Cronin FE et al (2001) Melastatin expression and prognosis in cutaneous malignant melanoma. J Clin Oncol 19:568-576
- Eid SR, Cortright DN (2009) Transient receptor potential channels on sensory nerves. Handb Exp Pharmacol 261-281
- Elias PM, Feingold KR (2006) Skin barrier. Taylor & Francis New York
- Enoch S, Leaper JD (2005) Basic science of wound healing. Surgery 23:37-42
- Epstein HF (1999) Cutaneous wound healing. N Engl J Med 341:738-746
- Estacion M (1991) Characterization of ion channels seen in subconfluent human dermal fibroblasts. J Physiol 436:579–601

Evans RJ, Jarvis MF, Kennedy C et al (2012) P2X receptors, introductory chapter. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyIntroductionForward?familyId=77</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.

- Fatherazi S, Presland RB, Belton CM et al (2007) Evidence that TRPC4 supports the calcium selective I(CRAC)-like current in human gingival keratinocytes. Pflugers Arch 453:879-889
- Faye T, Langsrud T, Nes IF et al (2000) Biochemical and genetic characterization of propionicin T1, a new bacteriocin from Propionibacterium thoenii. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:4230–4236
- Fernandes ES, Fernandes MA, Keeble JE. (2012) The functions of TRPA1 and TRPV1: moving away from sensory nerves. Br J Pharmacol 166(2):510-521
- Fischer M, Glanz D, Urbatzka M et al (2009) Keratinocytes: a source of the transmitter L-glutamate in the epidermis. Exp Dermatol 18:1064–1066
- Fischer M, Glanz D, William T et al (2004a) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors influence the intracellular calcium concentration of keratinocytes. Exp Dermatol 13:512–519
- Fischer M, William T, Helmbold P et al (2004b) Expression of epidermal N-methyl-Daspartate receptors (NMDAR1) depends on formation of the granular layer-analysis in diseases with parakeratotic cornification. Arch Dermatol Res 296:157– 162
- Fischer J, Bouadjar B, Heilig R et al (2001) Mutations in the gene encoding SLURP-1 in Mal de Meleda. Hum Mol Genet 10:875–880

- Fluhr JW, Mao-Qiang M, Brown BE et al (2003) Glycerol regulates stratum corneum hydration in sebaceous gland deficient (asebia) mice. J Invest Dermatol 120:728– 737
- Frigeri A, Gropper MA, Umenishi F et al (1995) Localization of MIWC and GLIP water channel homologs in neuromuscular, epithelial and glandular tissues. J Cell Sci 108:2993–3002

Fuchs E, Horsley V (2008) More than one way to skin. Genes Dev 22:976-985

- Fuziwara S, Inoue K, Denda M (2003) NMDA-type glutamate receptor is associated with cutaneous barrier homeostasis. J Invest Dermatol 120:1023–1029
- Gallo RL, Huttner KM (1998) Antimicrobial peptides: an emerging concept in cutaneous biology. J Invest Dermatol 111(5):739-743
- Gallo RL, Nakatsuji T (2011) Microbial symbiosis with the innate immune defense system of the skin. J Invest Dermatol 131(10):1974-1980
- Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ (2007) Glycolysis in cancer: a potential target for therapy. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39:1358-1366
- Georgiou JG, Skarratt KK, Fuller SJ et al (2005) Human epidermal and monocytederived langerhans cells express functional P2X receptors. J Invest Dermatol 125(3):482-490
- Girardi M (2007) Cutaneous perspectives on adaptive immunity. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 33:4–14
- Gong R (2008) Multi-target anti-inflammatory action of hepatocyte growth factor. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 9:1163-1170
- Gorodeski GI (2009) P2X7-mediated chemoprevention of epithelial cancers. Expert Opin Ther Targets 13(11):1313-1332
- Grando SA, Kist DA, Qi M et al (1993) Human keratinocytes synthesize, secrete, and degrade acetylcholine. J Invest Dermatol 101:32–36
- Grando SA, Horton RM, Mauro TM et al (1996) Activation of keratinocyte nicotinic cholinergic receptors stimulates calcium influx and enhances cell differentiation. J Invest Dermatol 107:412–418
- Grando SA, Pittelkow MR, Schallreuter KU (2006) Adrenergic and cholinergic control in the biology of epidermis: physiological and clinical significance. J Invest Dermatol 126:1948–1965
- Granstein RD, Ding W, Huang J et al (2005) Augmentation of cutaneous immune responses by ATP gamma S: purinergic agonists define a novel class of immunologic adjuvants. J Immunol 174(12):7725-7731
- Greig AV, James SE, McGrouther DA et al (2003) Purinergic receptor expression in the regeneration epidermis in a rat model of normal and delayed wound healing. Exp Dermatol 12(6):860-871

- Greig AV, Cuthill S, Linge C et al (2006) P2X(5) and P2X(7) receptors in human warts and CIN-612 organotypic raft cultures of human papillomavirus infected keratinocytes. Purinergic Signal 2(3):509-515
- Guler AD, Lee H, lida T et al (2002) Heat-evoked activation of the ion channel, TRPV4. J Neurosci 22:6408-6414
- Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y et al (2008) Wound repair and regeneration. Nature 453:314–321
- Gutman GA, Chandy KG, Grissmer S et al (2012a) Voltage-gated potassium channels. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyMenuForward?familyId=81</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.
- Gutman GA, Aldrich R, Chandy KG et al (2012b) Calcium-activated potassium channels. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyMenuForward?familyId=69</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.
- Haass NK, Ripperger D, Wladykowski E et al (2010) Melanoma progression exhibits a significant impact on connexin expression patterns in the epidermal tumor microenvironment. Histochem Cell Biol 133:113–124
- Hagforsen E (2007) The cutaneous non-neuronal cholinergic system and smoking related dermatoses: studies of the psoriasis variant palmoplantar pustulosis. Life Sci 80(24-25):2227-2234
- Han D, Kim H-Y, Lee H-J et al (2007) Wound healing activity of gamma-aminobutyric Acid (GABA) in rats. J Microbiol Biotechnol 17:1661–1669
- Hana A, Booken D, Henrich C et al (2007) Functional significance of non-neuronal acetylcholine in skin epithelia. Life Sci 80:2214–2220
- Hara M, Ma T, Verkman AS (2002) Selectively reduced glycerol in skin of aquaporin-3-deficient mice may account for impaired skin hydration, elasticity, and barrier recovery. J Biol Chem 277:46616–46621
- Hara M, Verkman AS (2003) Glycerol replacement corrects defective skin hydration, elasticity, and barrier function in aquaporin-3-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:7360–7365
- Hara-Chikuma M, Sohara E, Rai T et al (2005) Progressive adipocyte hypertrophy in aquaporin-7-deficient mice: adipocyte glycerol permeability as a novel regulator of fat accumulation. J Biol Chem 280:15493–15496
- Hara-Chikuma M, Verkman AS (2008a) Roles of Aquaporin-3 in the Epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 128:2145–2151
- Hara-Chikuma M, Verkman A (2008b) Aquaporin-3 facilitates epidermal cell migration and proliferation during wound healing. J Mol Med (Berl) 86:221–231

- Hara-Chikuma M, Verkman AS (2008c) Prevention of skin tumorigenesis and impairment of epidermal cell proliferation by targeted aquaporin-3 gene disruption. Mol Cell Biol 28:326–332
- Hara-Chikuma M, Takahashi K, Chikuma S et al (2009) The expression of differentiation markers in aquaporin-3 deficient epidermis. Archives of Dermatological Research 301:245–252
- Hara-Chikuma M, Sugiyama Y, Kabashima K et al (2012) Involvement of aquaporin-7 in the cutaneous primary immune response through modulation of antigen uptake and migration in dendritic cells. FASEB J 26:211–218
- Henderson RM, Cuthbert AW (1991a) A high-conductance Ca(2+)-activated K+ channel in cultured human eccrine sweat gland cells. Pflugers Arch 418:271–275
- Henderson RM, Cuthbert AW (1991b) An outward-rectifying potassium channel in primary cultures of sweat glands from cystic fibrosis subjects. Biochim Biophys Acta 1097:219–223
- Hennings H, Michael D, Cheng C et al (1980) Calcium regulation of growth and differentiation of mouse epidermal cells in culture. Cell 19:245-254
- Hibuse T, Maeda N, Funahashi T et al (2005) Aquaporin 7 deficiency is associated with development of obesity through activation of adipose glycerol kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:10993–10998
- Hodges GJ, Johnson JM (2009) Adrenergic control of the human cutaneous circulation. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 34(5):829-839
- Hokazono H, Omori T, Ono K (2010) Effects of single and combined administration of fermented barley extract and gamma-aminobutyric acid on the development of atopic dermatitis in NC/Nga mice. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 74:135–139
- Holzer P (1991) Capsaicin: cellular targets, mechanisms of action, and selectivity for thin sensory neurons. Pharmacol Rev 43:143-201
- Honda A, Tint GS, Salen G et al (1997) Sterol concentrations in cultured Smith– Lemli–Opitz syndrome skin fibroblasts: diagnosis of a biochemically atypical case of the syndrome. Am J Med Genet 68:282–287
- Hoogduijn MJ, Hitchcock IS, Smit NPM et al (2006) Glutamate receptors on human melanocytes regulate the expression of MiTF. Pigment Cell Res 19:58–67
- Horie I, Maeda M, Yokoyama S et al (2009) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha decreases aquaporin-3 expression in DJM-1 keratinocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 387:564–568
- Huang SM, Lee H, Chung MK et al (2008) Overexpressed transient receptor potential vanilloid 3 ion channels in skin keratinocytes modulate pain sensitivity via prostaglandin E2. J Neurosci 28:13727-13737
- Huang SM, Li X, Yu Y et al (2011) TRPV3 and TRPV4 ion channels are not major contributors to mouse heat sensation. Mol Pain 7:37

- Huang Y, Ko WH, Chung YW et al (1999) Identification of calcium-activated potassium channels in cultured equine sweat gland epithelial cells. Exp Physiol 84:881–895
- lizuka T, Suzuki T, Nakano K et al (2012) Immunolocalization of aquaporin-5 in normal human skin and hypohidrotic skin diseases. J Dermatol 39(4):344-349
- Imura K, Yoshioka T, Hikita I et al (2007) Influence of TRPV3 mutation on hair growth cycle in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 363:479-483
- Inoue K, Koizumi S, Fuziwara S et al (2002) Functional vanilloid receptors in cultured normal human epidermal keratinocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 291:124-129
- Inoue K, Denda M, Tozaki H et al (2005) Characterization of multiple P2X receptors in cultured normal human epidermal keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 124(4):756-763
- Ito K, Tanaka K, Nishibe Y et al (2007) GABA-synthesizing enzyme, GAD67, from dermal fibroblasts: evidence for a new skin function. Biochim Biophys Acta 1770:291–296
- Jansen T, Altmeyer P, Plewig G (2001) Acne inversa (alias hidradenitis suppurativa). J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 15(6):532–540
- Jensen JM, Proksch E (2009) The skin's barrier. G Ital Dermatol Venereol 144(6):689-700
- Johnson JM (2010) Exercise in a hot environment: the skin circulation. Scand J Med Sci Sports 20(Suppl 3):29-39
- Jordt SE, Bautista DM, Chuang HH et al (2004) Mustard oils and cannabinoids excite sensory nerve fibres through the TRP channel ANKTM1. Nature 427:260-265
- Kang D, Kim S-H, Hwang E-M et al (2007) Expression of thermosensitive two-pore domain K+ channels in human keratinocytes cell line HaCaT cells. Exp Dermatol 16:1016–1022
- Kang M, Cho JH, Koo JK et al (2009) The expression of NMDA receptor 1 correlates with clinicopathological parameters in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. Ann Dermatol 21:382–388
- Karashima Y, Talavera K, Everaerts W et al (2009) TRPA1 acts as a cold sensor in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106(4):1273–1278
- Katsuta Y, Iida T, Hasegawa K et al (2009) Function of oleic acid on epidermal barrier and calcium influx into keratinocytes is associated with N-methyl D-aspartate-type glutamate receptors. Br J Dermatol 160:69–74
- Kellenberger S, Schild L (2002) Epithelial sodium channel/degenerin family of ion channels: a variety of functions for a shared structure. Physiol Rev 82:735–767

- Khakh BS, Burnstock G, Kennedy C et al (2001) International Union of Pharmacology. XXIV. Current status of the nomenclature and properties of P2X receptors and their subunits. Pharmacol Rev 53:107–118
- Kida N, Sokabe T, Kashio M et al (2011) Importance of transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) in epidermal barrier function in human skin keratinocytes. Pflugers Arch 463:715-725
- Kim SJ, Lee SA, Yun SJ et al (2006) Expression of vanilloid receptor 1 in cultured fibroblast. Exp Dermatol 15:362-367
- Knuever J, Poeggeler B, Gáspár E et al (2012) Thyrotropin-releasing hormone controls mitochondrial biology in human epidermis. J Clin Endocr Metab 97(3):978-986
- Kobayashi K, Fukuoka T, Obata K et al (2005) Distinct expression of TRPM8, TRPA1, and TRPV1 mRNAs in rat primary afferent neurons with adelta/c-fibers and colocalization with trk receptors. J Comp Neurol 493:596-606
- Koegel H, Alzheimer C (2001) Expression and biological significance of Ca²⁺activated ion channels in human keratinocytes. *FASEB J* 15:145–154
- Koh TJ, DiPietro LA (2011) Inflammation and wound healing: the role of the macrophage. Expert Rev Mol Med 13:e23
- Kosztka L, Rusznák Z, Nagy D et al (2011) Inhibition of TASK-3 (KCNK9) channel biosynthesis changes cell morphology and decreases both DNA content and mitochondrial function of melanoma cells maintained in cell culture. Melanoma Res 21:308-322
- Kranich J, Maslowski KM, Mackay CR (2011) Commensal flora and the regulation of inflammatory and autoimmune responses. Semin Immunol 23(2):139-145
- Kupper TS, Fuhlbrigge RC (2004) Immune surveillance in the skin: mechanisms and clinical consequences. Nat Rev Immunol 4:211–222
- Kurokawa I, Danby FW, Ju Q et al (2009) New developments in our understanding of acne pathogenesis and treatment. Exp Dermatol 18(10):821-832.
- Kurzen H (2004) The extraneuronal cholinergic system of the skin. Basic facts and clinical relevance. Hautarzt 55:453–459
- Kurzen H, Berger H, Jäger C et al (2004) Phenotypical and molecular profiling of the extraneuronal cholinergic system of the skin. J Invest Dermatol 123:937–949
- Kurzen H, Schallreuter KU (2004) Novel aspects in cutaneous biology of acetylcholine synthesis and acetylcholine receptors. Exp Dermatol 13(Suppl 4):27–30
- Kurzen H, Berger H, Jäger C et al (2005) Alpha 9 acetylcholine receptors are essential for epidermal differentiation. Exp Dermatol 14:155–155

- Kurzen H, Wessler I, Kirkpatrick CJ et al (2007) The non-neuronal cholinergic system of human skin. Horm Metab Res 39:125–135
- Lademann J, Richter H, Schanzer S et al (2011) Penetration and storage of particles in human skin: perspectives and safety aspects. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 77(3):465-468
- Lansdown AB (2002) Calcium: a potential central regulator in wound healing in the skin. Wound Repair Regen 10:271-285
- Lau K, Paus R, Tiede S et al (2009) Exploring the role of stem cells in cutaneous wound healing. Exp Dermatol 18:921–933.
- Lee H, Caterina MJ (2005) TRPV channels as thermosensory receptors in epithelial cells. Pflugers Arch 451:160-167
- Lee H, lida T, Mizuno A et al (2005) Altered thermal selection behavior in mice lacking transient receptor potential vanilloid 4. J Neurosci 25:1304-1310
- Lee JR, White TW (2009) Connexin-26 mutations in deafness and skin disease. Expert Rev Mol Med 11:e35
- Lee SH, Elias PM, Proksch E et al (1991) Calcium and potassium are important regulators of barrier homeostasis in murine epidermis. J Clin Invest 89:530–538
- Lee YM, Li WH, Kim YK et al (2008) Heat-induced MMP-1 expression is mediated by TRPV1 through PKCalpha signaling in HaCaT cells. Exp Dermatol 17:864-870
- Lee YM, Kim YK, Chung JH (2009a) Increased expression of TRPV1 channel in intrinsically aged and photoaged human skin in vivo. Exp Dermatol 18:431-436
- Lee YM, Kim YK, Kim KH et al (2009b) A novel role for the TRPV1 channel in UVinduced matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-1 expression in HaCaT cells. J Cell Physiol 219:766-775
- Lee YM, Kang SM, Lee SR et al (2011) Inhibitory effects of TRPV1 blocker on UVinduced responses in the hairless mice. Arch Dermatol Res 303:727–736
- Lee YM, Kang SM, Chung JH (2012) The role of TRPV1 channel in aged human skin. J Dermatol Sci 65:81-85
- Lehen'kyi V, Beck B, Polakowska R et al (2007) TRPV6 is a Ca2+ entry channel essential for Ca2+-induced differentiation of human keratinocytes. J Biol Chem 282:22582-22591
- Lehen'kyi V, Vandenberghe M, Belaubre F et al (2011) Acceleration of keratinocyte differentiation by transient receptor potential vanilloid (TRPV6) channel activation. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 25(Suppl 1):12–18
- Lei X, Wu J, Lu Y et al (2008) Effects of acetylcholine chloride on intracellular calcium concentration of cultured sweat gland epithelial cells. Arch Dermatol Res 300(7):335-341

- Lepple-Wienhues A, Berweck S, Böhmig M et al (1996) K+ channels and the intracellular calcium signal in human melanoma cell proliferation. J Membr Biol 151:149–157
- Leuner K, Kraus M, Woelfle U et al (2011) Reduced TRPC channel expression in psoriatic keratinocytes is associated with impaired differentiation and enhanced proliferation. PLoS One 6:e14716
- Li J, Tang H, Hu X et al (2010) Aquaporin-3 gene and protein expression in sunprotected human skin decreases with skin ageing. Australas J Dermatol 51:106– 112
- Li WH, Lee YM, Kim JY et al (2007) Transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 mediates heat-shock-induced matrix metalloproteinase-1 expression in human epidermal keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 127:2328-2335
- Liedtke W, Choe Y, Marti-Renom MA et al (2000) Vanilloid receptor-related osmotically activated channel (VR-OAC), a candidate vertebrate osmoreceptor. Cell 103:525-535
- Lim I, Yun J, Kim S et al (2005) Nitric oxide stimulates a large-conductance Caactivated K+ channel in human skin fibroblasts through protein kinase G pathway. Skin Pharmacol Physiol 18:279–287
- Lin Z, Chen Q, Lee M et al (2012) Exome sequencing reveals mutations in TRPV3 as a cause of Olmsted syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 90:558-564
- Littman DR, Pamer EG (2011) Role of the commensal microbiota in normal and pathogenic host immune responses. Cell Host Microbe 10(4):311-323
- Longmore J, Bradshaw CM, Szabadi E (1985) Effects of locally and systemically administered cholinoceptor antagonists on the secretory response of human eccrine sweat glands to carbachol. Br J Clin Pharmacol 20(1):1–7
- Lu S, Slominski A, Yang SE et al (2010) The correlation of TRPM1 (Melastatin) mRNA expression with microphthalmia-associated transcription factor (MITF) and other melanogenesis-related proteins in normal and pathological skin, hair follicles and melanocytic nevi. J Cutan Pathol 37(Suppl 1):26–40
- Lucke T, Choudhry R, Thom R et al (1999) Upregulation of connexin 26 is a feature of keratinocyte differentiation in hyperproliferative epidermis, vaginal epithelium, and buccal epithelium. J Invest Dermatol 112:354–361
- Luger TA (2002) Neuromediators--a crucial component of the skin immune system. J Dermatol Sci 30:87-93
- Lummis SCR, Barnes NM, Hales TG et al (2012) 5-HT₃ receptors, introductory chapter. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyIntroductionForward?familyId=68</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.

- Lundeberg L, El-Nour H, Mohabbati S et al (2002) Expression of serotonin receptors in allergic contact eczematous human skin. Arch Dermatol Res 294:393–398
- Lynch JW (2012) Glycine receptors, introductory chapter. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyIntroductionForward?familyId=73</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.
- Ma T, Hara M, Sougrat R et al (2002) Impaired stratum corneum hydration in mice lacking epidermal water channel aquaporin-3. J Biol Chem 277:17147–17153
- Maass K, Ghanem A, Kim J-S et al (2004) Defective epidermal barrier in neonatal mice lacking the C-terminal region of connexin43. Mol Biol Cell 15:4597–4608
- Madison KC (2003) Barrier function of the skin: "la raison d'être" of the epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 121(2):231-241
- Mahapatra NR, O'Connor DT, Vaingankar SM et al (2005) Hypertension from targeted ablation of chromogranin A can be rescued by the human ortholog. J Clin Invest 115(7):1942-1952
- Manaves V, Qin W, Bauer AL et al (2004) Calcium and Vitamin D increase mRNA levels for the growth control hIK1 channel in human epidermal keratinocytes but functional channels are not observed. BMC Dermatol 4:7
- Mandadi S, Sokabe T, Shibasaki K et al (2009) TRPV3 in keratinocytes transmits temperature information to sensory neurons via ATP. Pflugers Arch 458:1093-1102
- Marchini G, Ståbi B, Kankes K et al (2003) AQP1 and AQP3, psoriasin, and nitric oxide synthases 1–3 are inflammatory mediators in erythema toxicum neonatorum. Pediatr Dermatol 20:377–384
- Matsuzaki T, Suzuki T, Koyama H et al (1999) Water channel protein AQP3 is present in epithelia exposed to the environment of possible water loss. J Histochem Cytochem 47:1275–1286
- Mauro T, Dixon DB, Komuves L et al (1997) Keratinocyte K+ channels mediate Ca2+-induced differentiation. J Invest Dermatol 108:864–870
- McKemy DD, Neuhausser WM, Julius D (2002) Identification of a cold receptor reveals a general role for TRP channels in thermosensation. Nature 416:52-58
- McKenzie RC, Oda Y, Szepietowski JC et al (2003) Defective cyclic guanosine monophosphate-gated calcium channels and the pathogenesis of psoriasis. Acta Derm Venereol 83:414–418
- McNamara CR, Mandel-Brehm J, Bautista DM et al (2007) TRPA1 mediates formalin-induced pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:13525-13530
- Metcalfe MJ, Baker DM, Burnstock G (2006) Purinoceptor expression on keratinocytes reflects their function on the epidermis during chronic venous insufficiency. Arch Dermatol Res 298(6):301-307

- Miescher S, Stierli MP, Teuber M et al (2000) Propionicin SM1, a bacteriocin from Propionibacterium jensenii DF1: isolation and characterization of the protein and its gene. Syst Appl Microbiol 23:174–184
- Millar NS, Gotti C, Marks MJ et al (2012) Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, introductory chapter. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyIntroductionForward?familyId=76</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.
- Miller AJ, Du J, Rowan S et al (2004) Transcriptional regulation of the melanoma prognostic marker melastatin (TRPM1) by MITF in melanocytes and melanoma. Cancer Res 64:509-516
- Miller LS (2008) Toll-like receptors in skin. Adv Dermatol 24:71-87
- Miyamoto T, Petrus MJ, Dubin AE et al (2011) TRPV3 regulates nitric oxide synthase-independent nitric oxide synthesis in the skin. Nat Commun 2:369
- Moqrich A, Hwang SW, Earley TJ et al (2005) Impaired thermosensation in mice lacking TRPV3, a heat and camphor sensor in the skin. Science 307:1468-1472
- Moran MM, McAlexander MA, Bíró T, Szallasi A (2011) Transient receptor potential channels as therapeutic targets. Nature Rev Drug Discov 10(8):601-620
- Morhenn VB, Waleh NS, Mansbridge JN et al (1994) Evidence for an NMDA receptor subunit in human keratinocytes and rat cardiocytes. Eur J Pharmacol 268:409– 414
- Muchekehu RW, Harvey BJ (2009) Estradiol rapidly induces the translocation and activation of the intermediate conductance calcium activated potassium channel in human eccrine sweat gland cells. Steroids 74:212–217
- Müller M, Essin K, Hill K et al (2008) Specific TRPC6 channel activation, a novel approach to stimulate keratinocyte differentiation. J Biol Chem 283:33942-33954
- Nahm WK, Philpot BD, Adams MM et al (2004) Significance of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor-mediated signaling in human keratinocytes. J Cell Physiol 200:309–317
- Nakahigashi K, Kabashima K, Ikoma A et al (2011) Upregulation of aquaporin-3 is involved in keratinocyte proliferation and epidermal hyperplasia. J Invest Dermatol 131:865–873
- Nakamura K (2011) Central circuitries for body temperature regulation and fever. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 301(5):R1207-1228
- Nameda Y, Miyoshi H, Tsuchiya K et al (1996) Endotoxin-induced L-arginine pathway produces nitric oxide and modulates the Ca2+-activated K+ channel in cultured human dermal papilla cells. J Invest Dermatol 106:342–345
- Nejsum LN, Kwon T-H, Jensen UB et al (2002) Functional requirement of aquaporin-5 in plasma membranes of sweat glands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:511–516

- Nestle FO, Di MP, Qin JZ et al (2009) Skin immune sentinels in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 9:679–691
- Nguyen VH, Markwardt F (2002) A large conductance [Ca(2+)](i)-independent K(+) channel expressed in HaCaT keratinocytes. Exp Dermatol 11:319–326
- Nguyen VT, Ndoye A, Grando SA (2000) Novel human alpha9 acetylcholine receptor regulating keratinocyte adhesion is targeted by Pemphigus vulgaris autoimmunity. Am J Pathol 157:1377–1391
- Nguyen VT, Ndoye A, Hall LL et al (2001) Programmed cell death of keratinocytes culminates in apoptotic secretion of a humectant upon secretagogue action of acetylcholine. J Cell Sci 114:1189–1204
- Nguyen VT, Chernyavsky AI, Arredondo J et al (2004) Synergistic control of keratinocyte adhesion through muscarinic and nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes. Exp Cell Res 294:534–549
- Nigam R, El-Nour H, Amatya B et al (2010) GABA and GABA(A) receptor expression on immune cells in psoriasis: a pathophysiological role. Arch Dermatol Res 302:507–515
- Nijnik A, Pistolic J, Filewod NC et al (2012) Signaling pathways mediating chemokine induction in keratinocytes by cathelicidin LL-37 and flagellin. J Innate Immun. 4(4):377-386
- Nilius B, Mahieu F (2006) A road map for TR(I)Ps. Mol Cell 22:297-307
- Nilius B, Owsianik G, Voets T et al (2007) Transient receptor potential cation channels in disease. Physiol Rev 87:165-217
- Nilius B, Owsianik G (2010) Transient receptor potential channelopathies. Pflugers Arch 460(2):437-450
- Niyonsaba F, Nagaoka I, Ogawa H et al (2009) Multifunctional antimicrobial proteins and peptides: natural activators of immune systems. Curr Pharm Des 15(21):2393-2413
- Nordlind K, Thorslund K, Lonne-Rahm S et al (2006) Expression of serotonergic receptors in psoriatic skin. Arch Dermatol Res 298:99–106
- Oancea E, Vriens J, Brauchi S et al (2009) TRPM1 forms ion channels associated with melanin content in melanocytes. Sci Signal 2(70):ra21
- Oláh A, Tóth BI, Czifra G et al (2009) Cannabidiol inhibits lipid synthesis in human sebaceous gland-derived sebocytes – Is cannabidiol a novel anti-acne agent? J Invest Dermatol 129 suppl. S58
- Oláh A, Tóth BI, Szöllősi AG et al (2010) Endo- and phytocannabinoids differentially regulate biology of human epithelial skin cells. J Invest Dermatol 130 suppl. S107
- Olsen RW, Sieghart W (2008) International Union of Pharmacology. LXX. Subtypes of γ -aminobutyric acid_A receptors: Classification on the basis of subunit

composition, pharmacology, and function. Update. Pharmacological Reviews 60(3):243-260

- Olsen R, Peters JA, Hales TG et al (2012) GABA_A receptors, introductory chapter. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyIntroductionForward?familyId=72</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.
- Olsson M, Broberg A, Jernås M et al (2006) Increased expression of aquaporin 3 in atopic eczema. Allergy 61:1132–1137
- Orfanelli U, Wenke AK, Doglioni C et al (2008) Identification of novel sense and antisense transcription at the TRPM2 locus in cancer. Cell Res 18:1128-1140
- Ozbun MA (2002) Infectious human papillomavirus type 31b: purification and infection of an immortalized human keratinocyte cell line. J Gen Virol 83:2753-2763
- Panchin Y, Kelmanson I, Matz M et al (2000) A ubiquitous family of putative gap junction molecules. Curr Biol 10:R473–474
- Pani B, Cornatzer E, Cornatzer W et al (2006) Up-regulation of transient receptor potential canonical 1 (TRPC1) following sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca2+ ATPase 2 gene silencing promotes cell survival: a potential role for TRPC1 in Darier's disease. Mol Biol Cell 17:4446-4458
- Pastore S, Mascia F, Gulinelli S et al (2007) Stimulation of purinergic receptors modulates chemokine expression in human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 127(3):660-667
- Paus R, Schmelz M, Bíró T et al (2006a) Frontiers in pruritus research: scratching the brain for more effective itch therapy. J Clin Invest 116:1174-1186.
- Paus R, Theoharides TC, Arck PC (2006b) Neuroimmunoendocrine circuitry of the 'brain-skin connection'. Trends Immunol 27:32-39.
- Peier AM, Moqrich A, Hergarden AC et al (2002a) A TRP channel that senses cold stimuli and menthol. Cell 108:705-715
- Peier AM, Reeve AJ, Andersson DA et al (2002b) A heat-sensitive TRP channel expressed in keratinocytes. Science 296:2046-2049
- Penuela S, Bhalla R, Gong X-Q et al (2007) Pannexin 1 and pannexin 3 are glycoproteins that exhibit many distinct characteristics from the connexin family of gap junction proteins. J Cell Sci 120:3772–3783
- Penuela S, Gehi R, Laird DW (2012a) The biochemistry and function of pannexin channels. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta [Epub ahead of print]
- Penuela S, Gyenis L, Ablack A et al (2012b) Loss of pannexin 1 attenuates melanoma progression by reversion to a melanocytic phenotype. J Biol Chem 287:29184–29193

- Peters EM, Liotiri S, Bodó E et al (2007) Probing the effects of stress mediators on the human hair follicle: substance P holds central position. Am J Pathol 171:1872-1886
- Peters JA, Peineau S, Collingridge GL et al (2012) Ionotropic glutamate receptors, introductory chapter. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyIntroductionForward?familyId=75</u>. Accessed on 20 July 2012.
- Pinkus H (1951) Examination of the epidermis by the strip method of removing horny layers. I. Observations on thickness of the horny layer, and on mitotic activity after stripping. J Invest Dermatol 16:383–386
- Pitoni S, Sinclair HL, Andrews PJ (2011) Aspects of thermoregulation physiology. Curr Opin Crit Care 17(2):115-121
- Pivarcsi A, Bodai L, Réthi B et al (2003) Expression and function of Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in human keratinocytes. Int Immunol 15(6):721-730
- Pivarcsi A, Kemény L, Dobozy A (2004) Innate immune functions of the keratinocytes. A review. Acta Microbiol Immunol Hung 51(3):303-310
- Plant LD, Bayliss DA, Kim D et al (2012) Two-P potassium channels. IUPHAR database (IUPHAR-DB) <u>http://www.iuphar-db.org/DATABASE/FamilyMenuForward?familyId=79</u> Accessed on 20 July 2012.
- Poeggeler B, Knuever J, Gáspár E et al (2010) Thyrotropin Powers Human Mitochondria. FASEB J 24(5):1525-1531
- Prevarskaya N, Zhang L, Barritt G (2007) TRP channels in cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1772:937-946
- Proksch E, Brandner JM, Jensen J-M (2008) The skin: an indispensable barrier. Experimental Dermatology 17:1063–1072
- Qin H, Zheng X, Zhong X et al (2011) Aquaporin-3 in keratinocytes and skin: its role and interaction with phospholipase D2. Arch Biochem Biophys 508:138–143
- Quinton PM (2007) Cystic fibrosis: lessons from the sweat gland. Physiology (Bethesda) 22:212–225
- Radek KA, Elias PM, Taupenot L et al (2010) Neuroendocrine nicotinic receptor activation increases susceptibility to bacterial infections by suppressing antimicrobial peptide production. Cell Host Microbe 7:277–289
- Radtke C, Sinis N, Sauter M et al (2011) TRPV channel expression in human skin and possible role in thermally induced cell death. J Burn Care Res 32:150-159
- Ramot Y, Zhang G, Bíró T et al (2011) TSH is a novel neuroendocrine regulator of selected keratins in the human hair follicle. J Dermatol Sci 64(1):67-70

- Ramsey IS, Delling M, Clapham DE (2006) An introduction to TRP channels. Annu Rev Physiol 68:619-647
- Rawlings AV (2010) Recent advances in skin 'barrier' research. J Pharm Pharmacol 62(6):671-677
- Reinke JM, Sorg H (2012) Wound repair and regeneration. Eur Surg Res 49:35–43
- Ren G, Jacob RF, Kaulin Y et al (2011) Alterations in membrane caveolae and BKCa channel activity in skin fibroblasts in Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome. Mol Genet Metab 104:346–355
- Rioux KP, Fedorak RN (2006) Probiotics in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Gastroenterol 40(3):260-263
- Roh S, Choi S, Lim I (2007) Involvement of protein kinase A in nitric oxide stimulating effect on a BK(Ca) channel of human dermal fibroblasts. J Invest Dermatol 127:2533–2538
- Rojek AM, Skowronski MT, Füchtbauer EM et al (2007) Defective glycerol metabolism in aquaporin 9 (AQP9) knockout mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:3609–3614
- Roosterman D, Goerge T, Schneider SW et al (2006) Neuronal control of skin function: the skin as a neuroimmunoendocrine organ. Physiol Rev 86:1309-1379
- Rothberg K, Heuser J, Donzell W et al (1992) Caveolin, a protein component of caveolae membrane coats. Cell 68:673–682
- Ruckert R, Lindner G, Bulfone-Paus S et al (2000) High-dose proinflammatory cytokines induce apoptosis of hair bulb keratinocytes in vivo. Br J Dermatol 143:1036-1039
- Rusznák Z, Bakondi G, Kosztka L et al (2008) Mitochondrial expression of the twopore domain TASK-3 channels in malignantly transformed and non-malignant human cells. Virchows Arch 452:415–426
- Samarasinghe V, Madan V (2012) Nonmelanoma skin cancer. J Cutan Aesthet Surg 5(1):3-10
- Sanchez AM, Sanchez MG, Malagarie-Cazenave S et al (2006) Induction of apoptosis in prostate tumor PC-3 cells and inhibition of xenograft prostate tumor growth by the vanilloid capsaicin. Apoptosis 11:89-99
- Schäfer T, Nienhaus A, Vieluf D et al (2001) Epidemiology of acne in the general population: the risk of smoking. Br J Dermatol 145:100–104
- Schmidt J, Friebel K, Schönherr R et al (2010) Migration-associated secretion of melanoma inhibitory activity at the cell rear is supported by KCa3.1 potassium channels. Cell Res 20:1224–1238
- Schmuth M, Watson RE, Deplewski D et al (2007) Nuclear hormone receptors in human skin. Horm Metab Res 39:96-105

- Seiffert K, Ding W, Wagner JA, Granstein RD (2006) ATPgammaS enhances the production of inflammatory mediators by a human dermal endothelial cell line via purinergic receptor signaling. J Invest Dermatol 126(5):1017-1027
- Shaker O, Abdel-Halim M (2012) Connexin 26 in psoriatic skin before and after two conventional therapeutic modalities: methotrexate and PUVA. Eur J Dermatol 22(2):218-224
- Shanmugam MK, Nguyen AH, Kumar AP et al (2012) Targeted inhibition of tumor proliferation, survival, and metastasis by pentacyclic triterpenoids: potential role in prevention and therapy of cancer. Cancer Lett 320:158-170
- Shi HP, Most D, Efron DT et al (2003) Supplemental L-arginine enhances wound healing in diabetic rats. *Wound Repair Regen* 11:198–203
- Silva CR, Oliveira SM, Rossato MF et al (2011) The involvement of TRPA1 channel activation in the inflammatory response evoked by topical application of cinnamaldehyde to mice. Life Sci 88(25-26):1077–1087
- Simons K, Ikonen E (1997) Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature 387:569–572
- Slater M, Scolyer RA, Gidley-Baird A et al (2003) Increased expression of apoptotic markers in melanoma. Melanoma Res 13(2):137-145
- Slominski A (2008) Cooling skin cancer: menthol inhibits melanoma growth. Focus on "TRPM8 activation suppresses cellular viability in human melanoma". Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 295:C293-295
- Slominski A, Wortsman J, Paus R et al (2008) Skin as an endocrine organ: implications for its function. Drug Discov Today Dis Mech 5:137-144
- Smith EW, Smith KA, Maibach HI et al (1992) The local side effects of transdermally absorbed nicotine. Skin Pharmacol 5(2):69–76
- Smith GD, Gunthorpe MJ, Kelsell RE et al (2002) TRPV3 is a temperature-sensitive vanilloid receptor-like protein. Nature 418:186-190
- Sokabe T, Fukumi-Tominaga T, Yonemura S et al (2010a) The TRPV4 channel contributes to intercellular junction formation in keratinocytes. J Biol Chem 285:18749-18758
- Sokabe T, Tominaga M (2010b) The TRPV4 cation channel: A molecule linking skin temperature and barrier function. Commun Integr Biol 3:619-621
- Solini A, Chiozzi P, Morelli A et al (2004) Enhanced P2X7 activity in human fibroblasts from diabetic patients: a possible pathogenetic mechanism for vascular damage in diabetes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24(7):1240-1245
- Solini A, Chiozzi P, Morelli A et al (1999) Human primary fibroblasts in vitro express a purinergic P2X7 receptor coupled to ion fluxes, microvesicle formation and IL-6 release. J Cell Sci 112(Pt 3):297-305

- Song Y, Sonawane N, Verkman AS (2002) Localization of aquaporin-5 in sweat glands and functional analysis using knockout mice. J Physiol (Lond) 541:561–568
- Sørensen JB, Nielsen MS, Gudme CN et al (2001) Maxi K+ channels co-localised with CFTR in the apical membrane of an exocrine gland acinus: possible involvement in secretion. Pflugers Arch 442:1–11
- Sosinsky GE, Boassa D, Dermietzel R et al (2011) Pannexin channels are not gap junction hemichannels. Channels (Austin) 5:193–197
- Sougrat R, Morand M, Gondran C et al (2002) Functional expression of AQP3 in human skin epidermis and reconstructed epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 118:678–685
- Southall MD, Li T, Gharibova LS et al (2003) Activation of epidermal vanilloid receptor-1 induces release of proinflammatory mediators in human keratinocytes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 304:217-222
- Stander S, Luger T, Metze D (2001) Treatment of prurigo nodularis with topical capsaicin. J Am Acad Dermatol 44:471-478
- Stander S, Moormann C, Schumacher M et al (2004) Expression of vanilloid receptor subtype 1 in cutaneous sensory nerve fibers, mast cells, and epithelial cells of appendage structures. Exp Dermatol 13:129-139
- Story GM, Peier AM, Reeve AJ et al (2003) ANKTM1, a TRP-like channel expressed in nociceptive neurons, is activated by cold temperatures. Cell 112:819-829
- Strotmann R, Harteneck C, Nunnenmacher K et al (2000) OTRPC4, a nonselective cation channel that confers sensitivity to extracellular osmolarity. Nat Cell Biol 2:695-702
- Suárez-Fariñas M, Fuentes-Duculan J, Lowes MA et al (2011) Resolved psoriasis lesions retain expression of a subset of disease-related genes. J Invest Dermatol 131:391–400
- Sugiyama Y, Ota Y, Hara M et al (2001) Osmotic stress upregulates aquaporin-3 gene expression in cultured human keratinocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1522:82–88
- Suzuki M, Watanabe Y, Oyama Y et al (2003) Localization of mechanosensitive channel TRPV4 in mouse skin. Neurosci Lett 353:189-192
- Szallasi A, Blumberg PM (1999) Vanilloid (Capsaicin) receptors and mechanisms. Pharmacol Rev 51:159-212
- Takeuchi O, Akira S (2010) Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. Cell 140:805–820
- Talavera K, Gees M, Karashima Y et al (2009) Nicotine activates the chemosensory cation channel TRPA1. Nat Neurosci 12:1293-1299

- Terhorst D, Kalali BN, Ollert M et al (2010) The role of toll-like receptors in host defenses and their relevance to dermatologic diseases. Am J Clin Dermatol 11(1):1-10
- Tiede S, Kloepper JE, Bodó E et al (2007) Hair follicle stem cells: walking the maze. Eur J Cell Biol 86:355-376
- Tint GS, Irons M, Elias ER et al (1994) Defective cholesterol biosynthesis associated with the Smith–Lemli–Opitz syndrome. N Engl J Med 330:107–113
- Todaka H, Taniguchi J, Satoh J et al (2004) Warm temperature-sensitive transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) plays an essential role in thermal hyperalgesia. J Biol Chem 279:35133-35138
- Tóth BI, Benkő S, Szöllősi AG et al (2009a) Transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 signaling inhibits differentiation and activation of human dendritic cells. FEBS Lett 583:1619-1624
- Tóth BI, Géczy T, Griger Z et al (2009b) Transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 signaling as a regulator of human sebocyte biology. J Invest Dermatol 129:329-339
- Tóth BI, Dobrosi N, Dajnoki A et al (2011a) Endocannabinoids modulate human epidermal keratinocyte proliferation and survival via the sequential engagement of cannabinoid receptor-1 and transient receptor potential vanilloid-1. J Invest Dermatol 131:1095-1104
- Tóth BI, Oláh A, Szöllősi AG et al (2011b) "Sebocytes' Makeup": Novel Mechanisms and Concepts in the Physiology of the Human Sebaceous Glands. Pflüg Arch Eur J Phy 461(6):593-606
- Tran JN, Pupovac A, Taylor RM et al (2010) Murine epidermal Langerhans cells and keratinocytes express functional P2X7 receptors. Exp Dermatol 19(8):e151-157
- Tremante E, Ginebri A, Lo Monaco E et al (2012) Melanoma molecular classes and prognosis in the postgenomic era. Lancet Oncol 13(5):e205-211
- Tsavaler L, Shapero MH, Morkowski S et al (2001) Trp-p8, a novel prostate-specific gene, is up-regulated in prostate cancer and other malignancies and shares high homology with transient receptor potential calcium channel proteins. Cancer Res 61:3760-3769
- Tsutsumi M, Denda S, Ikeyama K et al (2010) Exposure to low temperature induces elevation of intracellular calcium in cultured human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 130:1945–1948
- Vriens J, Nilius B, Vennekens R (2008) Herbal compounds and toxins modulating TRP channels. Curr Neuropharmacol 6(1):79-96
- Vriens J, Appendino G, Nilius B (2009) Pharmacology of vanilloid transient receptor potential cation channels. Mol Pharmacol 75:1262-1279

- Wang CM, Lincoln J, Cook JE et al (2007) Abnormal connexin expression underlies delayed wound healing in diabetic skin. Diabetes 56:2809–2817
- Wassif CA, Vied D, Tsokos M (2002) Cholesterol storage defect in RSH/Smith– Lemli–Opitz syndrome fibroblasts. Mol Genet Metab 75:325–334
- Watanabe H, Vriens J, Suh SH et al (2002) Heat-evoked activation of TRPV4 channels in a HEK293 cell expression system and in native mouse aorta endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 277:47044-47051
- Weber FC, Esser PR, Müller T et al (2010) Lack of the purinergic receptor P2X(7) results in resistance to contact hypersensitivity. J Exp Med 207(12):2609-2619
- Werner S, Grose R (2003) Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines. Physiol Rev 83:835–870
- Wessler I, Reinheimer T, Kilbinger H et al (2003) Increased acetylcholine levels in skin biopsies of patients with atopic dermatitis. Life Sci 72:2169–2172
- Wissenbach U, Bodding M, Freichel M et al (2000) Trp12, a novel Trp related protein from kidney. FEBS Lett 485:127-134
- Woelfle U, Laszczyk MN, Kraus M et al (2010) Triterpenes promote keratinocyte differentiation in vitro, ex vivo and in vivo: a role for the transient receptor potential canonical (subtype) 6. J Invest Dermatol 130:113-123
- Wood LC, Elias PM, Calhoun C et al (1996) Barrier disruption stimulates interleukin-1 alpha expression and release from a pre-formed pool in murine epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 106:397–403.
- Xiao R, Tian J, Tang J et al (2008) The TRPV3 mutation associated with the hairless phenotype in rodents is constitutively active. Cell Calcium 43:334-343
- Xu H, Ramsey IS, Kotecha SA et al (2002) TRPV3 is a calcium-permeable temperature-sensitive cation channel. Nature 418:181-186
- Xu H, Delling M, Jun JC et al (2006) Oregano, thyme and clove-derived flavors and skin sensitizers activate specific TRP channels. Nat Neurosci 9:628-635
- Xu J, Nicholson BJ. (2012) The role of connexins in ear and skin physiology -Functional insights from disease-associated mutations. Biochim Biophys Acta [Epub ahead of print]
- Yamamoto K, Korenaga R, Kamiya A et al (2000) P2X(4) receptors mediate ATPinduced calcium influx in human vascular endothelial cell. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 279(1):H285-292
- Yamamura H, Ugawa S, Ueda T et al (2008a) TRPM8 activation suppresses cellular viability in human melanoma. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 295:C296-301
- Yamamura H, Ugawa S, Ueda T et al (2008b) Epithelial Na+ channel delta subunit mediates acid-induced ATP release in the human skin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 373:155–158

- Yoshioka T, Imura K, Asakawa M et al (2009) Impact of the Gly573Ser substitution in TRPV3 on the development of allergic and pruritic dermatitis in mice. J Invest Dermatol 129:714-722
- Yun J, Park H, Ko J-H et al (2010) Expression of Ca2+ -activated K+ channels in human dermal fibroblasts and their roles in apoptosis. Skin Pharmacol Physiol 23:91–104
- Yun JW, Seo JA, Jang WH et al (2011) Antipruritic effects of TRPV1 antagonist in murine atopic dermatitis and itching models. J Invest Dermatol 131:1576-1579
- Zhao P, Barr TP, Hou Q et al (2008) Voltage-gated sodium channel expression in rat and human epidermal keratinocytes: evidence for a role in pain. Pain 139:90–105
- Zheng X, Bollag WB (2003) Aquaporin 3 colocates with phospholipase D2 in caveolin-rich membrane microdomains and is downregulated upon keratinocyte differentiation. J Invest Dermatol 121:1487–1495
- Zhiqi S, Soltani MH, Bhat KM et al (2004) Human melastatin 1 (TRPM1) is regulated by MITF and produces multiple polypeptide isoforms in melanocytes and melanoma. Melanoma Res 14:509-516
- Zironi I, Gaibani P, Remondini D et al (2010) Molecular remodeling of potassium channels in fibroblasts from centenarians: a marker of longevity? Mech Ageing Dev 131:674–681
- Zouboulis CC, Seltmann H, Neitzel H et al (1999) Establishment and characterization of an immortalized human sebaceous gland cell line (SZ95). J Invest Dermatol 113:1011-1020
- Zouboulis CC, Chen WC, Thornton MJ et al (2007) Sexual hormones in human skin. Horm Metab Res 39:85-95
- Zouboulis CC, Baron JM, Bohm M et al (2008) Frontiers in sebaceous gland biology and pathology. Exp Dermatol 17:542-551

10 List of abbreviations

- 5-HT: 5-hydroxytryptamine
- ACh: acethylcholine
- ACTH: corticotropin
- AD: atopic dermatitis
- AML: antimicrobial lipid
- AMP: antimicrobial peptide
- AMPA(R): α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazoleproprionic acid (receptor)
- ATP: adenosine-5'- triphosphate
- AQP: aquaporin
- BCC: basal cell carcinoma
- BK: large conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺-channel
- [Ca²⁺]_e: extracellular Ca²⁺-concentration
- [Ca²⁺]_i: intracellular Ca²⁺-concentration
- Ca_v: L-type voltage-gated Ca²⁺-channels
- CCL: chemokine ligand
- ChAT: choline-acetyltransferase
- CNG: cyclic guanosine monophosphate-gated channels
- COX: cyclooxygenase
- CXCL: CXC chemokine ligand
- CXCR: CXC chemokine ligand receptor
- CGRP: calcitonin gene-related peptide
- CNG channels: cyclic nucleotide-gated channels
- CVI: chronic venous insufficiency
- Cx: connexin
- CRH: corticotrophin releasing hormone
- DD: Darier's disease (keratosis follicularis)

DMBA: dimethylbenz[a]anthracene

EGF: epidermal growth factor

ENaC: amiloride-sensitive Na⁺ channels

GABA: gamma-aminobutyric acid

HS: hidradenitis suppurativa (acne inversa)

ICAM-1: intercellular adhesion molecule-1

IK1: intermediate conductance K_{Ca}

IL: interleukin

I-RTX: 5'-iodoresiniferatoxin

K_{2P}: two-pore K⁺-channels

K_{Ca}: Ca²⁺-activated K⁺-channels

K_{ir}: inward rectifier K⁺-channels

LPS: bacterial lipopolysaccharide

mAChR: muscarinic acethylcholine receptor

mGluR: metabotropic glutamate receptor

MMP-1: matrix metalloproteinase-1

MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acid

nAChR: nicotinic acethylcholine receptor

Na_v: voltage-gated Na⁺-channels

NHEK: normal human epidermal keratincyte

NGF: nerve growth factor

NK-1 (receptor): neurokinin-1 (receptor)

NMDA(R): N-methyl-D-aspartate (receptor)

NMF(s): natural moisturizing factor(s)

NO: nitric oxide

PCNA: proliferation cell nuclear antigen

PG: prostaglandin

PPP: palmoplantar pustulosis

SCC: squamous cell carcinoma

SLURP-1: secreted mammalian Ly-6/uPAR-related protein 1

- SP: substance P
- str.: stratum (layer)
- TLR: Toll-like receptor
- TM: transmembrane (domain)
- TPA: 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate
- TRH: thyreotropin releasing hormone
- TRP: transient receptor potential
- TRPA: "ankyrin" subfamily of the TRP channels
- TRPC: "canonical" or "classical" subfamily of the TRP channels
- TRPM: "melastatin" subfamily of the TRP channels
- TRPML: "mucolipin" subfamily of the TRP channels
- TRPP: "polycystin" subfamily of the TRP channels
- TRPV: "vanilloid" subfamily of the TRP channels
- TSH: thyreotropin
- TSW: Avène Thermal Spring water









